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Foreword and Executive Summary

Introduction

Ever since the introduction of the market system at the beginning of the nineties, the Slovenian 
insurance has been achieving high growth rates, exceeding growth rates in the overall economy. 
As such, it represents an important activity of the financial sector and the economy in general. 
Although the importance of insurance premiums as well as investments of insurance premiums 
is rapidly increasing in Slovenia, the European share in BDP has not yet been attained. In light 
of the experience of other European countries and the existing relatively low share of life insur-
ance premiums, a further growth can be expected.

Liberalisation and globalisation of capital markets require from insurance the diversity of fi-
nancial services offered as well as integration and cross-border expansion. The Slovenian 
insurance companies are successfully penetrating foreign markets, in particular in the Balkans 
region.

Assets from insurance contracts represent an important share of the capital market. Those 
are at the same time the longest term assets in the national economy, with the usual maturity 
over 10 years. Unfortunately, the Slovenian financial market, similarly to many other financial 
markets – due to the lack of long-term investment-credit instruments (various bonds, including 
mortgage and other guarantee instruments) – has insufficient capacity to absorb these annual 
increases in valuable long-term assets, and they flow out into European securities. In this way 
Slovenia is losing the potential of the domestic saving to boost its investments and employ-
ment. 

The insurance industry in Slovenia is still characterised by composite insurance companies, 
which means that an insurance undertaking as a single legal person may perform both non-life 
and life insurance business. Seven out of fourteen insurance companies are composite insur-
ance companies. Slovenia is therefore among the minority of EU Member States still maintain-
ing this type of insurance companies. Moreover, Slovenia is one of those EU Member States 
with the predominant domestic ownership, since nine insurance companies, i.e. 91 % of the 
entire insurance market, are still in the majority domestic ownership.

Membership of the European Union has brought Slovenia a multitude of rights but also consid-
erable obligations in all financial areas, including insurance. It had to transpose into the Slov-
enian insurance legislation and practice a wide range of insurance directives and basic prin-
ciples of the EU internal market, including, inter alia, the freedom to directly provide services. 
In recent years, the EU regulatory framework has been rapidly responding to increasingly more 
complex relations on the European financial markets through directives which at first regulated 
only the so-called solo supervision, then supervision of one-sector groups, which developed 
into the inter-sectoral supervision of financial conglomerates. The same developments have 
been experienced also in Slovenia. 

Development of the Insurance Market and Risk Management

After introduction of the market system at the beginning of the nineties, the insurance compa-
nies – unlike the banking sector – rehabilitated themselves, and succeeded in maintaining a 
high concentration in the insurance market. As a result, the biggest insurance company (by total 
gross premium collected) still maintained its market share of 39.4 % (without health insurance 
even 49 %) as at the end of 2007, and the aggregate market share of the four biggest insurance 
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undertakings was above 79 %. However, it is also noteworthy that almost half of the insurance 
companies succeeded in increasing their respective market shares in 2007 on account of a de-
crease in the share of the first biggest composite and the biggest health insurance company. 

In comparison with 2006, there was a 5.3 % rise of insurance business in real terms, meas-
ured by insurance premiums written. Accordingly, also the share of insurance premiums in GDP 
increased. In 2006 it reached 5.3 % of GDP, but in 2007 already notched 5.4 % of GDP. The 
respective shares in EU Member States were approx. 9 % in 2006. The share of the insurance 
premium collected in Slovenia is lagging behind the comparable shares of the EU Member 
States, mostly on account of the life insurance premium. In 2007, it accounted for 1.5 % 
of GDP, while in EU Member States (EU-27) it was almost 5.9 % in 2006. The life insurance 
premium collected in Slovenia in the last year has recorded an annual increase of 14.5 % in 
real terms and notched 28.5 % of total premium collected (in EU 64.9 % of total premium in 
2006).

In addition to »potential« of the insurance sector in the life insurance area, the 2000 pension 
reform introduced also the voluntary supplementary pension insurance; at the end of 2007, 
there were 3 insurance companies underwriting pension insurance, with the total premium col-
lected amounting to EUR 46.6 million, 3 pension companies, with the total premium collected 
in the amount of EUR 78.3 million, and 6 mutual funds, which collected the total premium in 
the amount of EUR 95.0 million.

In the financial year 2007, insurance companies posted an aggregate net profit in the amount 
of EUR 95.1 million, which is EUR 43.4 million more than in the previous year. Also the reinsur-
ance undertakings recorded a positive business result, which even improved year-on-year – it 
stood at EUR 22.4 million or EUR 6.1 million more than in 2006. Pension companies were suc-
cessful as well, they made EUR 2.4 million of net profit.

The stability of the insurance sector, and in particular of individual insurance companies, is 
conditional upon adequate risk management, i.e. management of the two portfolios and their 
matching. Risks associated with liabilities are related to determination of premium rates, esti-
mating future liabilities (so-called »underwriting risks«) and equalising those risks through co-
insurance and re-insurance. The net retention level in the total premium in 2007 for insurance 
undertakings was 88.9 % and for reinsurance undertakings 71.6 %. There are also risks associ-
ated with assets management, i.e. investment of assets received under insurance policies, in 
particular the risk of loss because of changes in the capital markets, lowering of interest rates, 
exchange rate fluctuations and insolvency of contractual partners.

At the end of 2007, investments of the Slovenian insurance undertakings (without reinsur-
ance undertakings) totalled almost EUR 4,018 million, of which investments of assets covering 
technical provisions accounted for EUR 3,398.4 million. The share of investments of insurance 
companies (without reinsurance companies) in GDP increased from 5.6 % to 12.0 % of GDP 
between 2001 and 2007, which is an additional indicator of the expected growth of the Slov-
enian insurance sector and thereby its role in the functioning of capital markets. The assets 
of reinsurance companies as at the end of 2007 totalled EUR 401.6 million, of those almost 
EUR 214.4 million investments of assets covering technical provisions without assets covering 
mathematical provisions. The assets of pension companies reached almost EUR 421.2 million 
at the end of 2007, and of those investments of assets covering mathematical provisions ac-
counted for almost EUR 399.4 million. 

In 2001, insurance undertakings showed a deficit in investments of assets covering technical 
provisions compared to technical provisions, while the mathematical provisions were adequate-
ly covered by investments (life insurance investments) for the first time ever. In 2002, also 
investments of assets covering technical provisions (without assets covering mathematical 
provisions) for the first time reached the level of coverage of other technical provisions. In 2007 
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this coverage remained at the 2006 level, and the investment ratio or share of all technical 
provisions covered by assets again stood at 110 %.

Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions (without assets covering mathematical 
provisions) and assets covering mathematical provisions for insurance undertakings as at 31 December 
2007

Investments of assets covering technical provisions(without 
assets covering mathematical provisions)

Investments of assets covering 
mathematical provisions

Government securities 33.4 % 34.3 %

Bank deposits 7.2 % 5.6 %

Debt securities 24.1 % 30.5 %

Equity securities 20.6 % 28.5 %

Other (loans, real estate, … ) 14.7 % 1.1 %

Total 100.0% 100.0%

The domestic capital cannot absorb the entire volume of investments of insurance companies, 
and they have to seek access to foreign capital markets. At the end of 2007, investments 
abroad already amounted to EUR 1,015.8 million, which was 56 % more than in the previous 
year.

As a further risk management measure, all insurance companies have to maintain a sufficient 
amount of capital, i.e. ensure the minimum capital adequacy. The minimum capital adequacy 
should be ensured also by reinsurance companies and pension companies. At the end of 2007, 
insurance undertakings, reinsurance undertakings and pension companies posted in the ag-
gregate EUR 209 million of the available capital surplus, which is four percent less than in the 
previous year. 

Taking into account the above data relating to the development of the Slovenian insurance 
market and the capacity of Slovenian insurance companies for risk management it could be 
summarised that, according to certain indicators, the Slovenian insurance industry has not yet 
attained the level of the most developed EU markets, but it has been developing fast and – 
which is also very important – it shows good business results and financial stability.

Slovenian insurance undertakings also started to penetrate the markets of other EU Member 
States. The premium collected in 2007 from risks underwritten in other EU Member States 
amounted to EUR 796.7 thousand, with the major share collected in the Slovak Republic (EUR 
459.9 thousand).

However, the Slovenian insurance undertakings are encountering competition on the Slovenian 
market of insurance undertakings from other EU Member States, performing insurance busi-
ness in Slovenia either directly or through three branches. The premium 
collected from direct insurance business in 20061 amounted to EUR 9.2 
million, of which the major share was collected by insurance companies 
from Great Britain, while the two branches collected the premium in the amount of EUR 5.9 
million. 

Activities of the Insurance Supervision Agency

The Insurance Supervision Agency is responsible also for preparing and issuing implementing 
regulations in the insurance area and for their amendment. In 2007, the Agency adopted four 
new implementing regulations and ten amendments to the existing implementing regulations. 

In 2007, the Agency adopted the following new implementing regulations or amendments to 
the existing ones:

1The most recent available 
data refer to 2006.
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New implementing regulations
1. Decision on the method of calculation and on supplementary own capital items (Official 
Gazette of the RS, No. 28/07)
2. Decision on detailed rules relating to investments of assets covering technical provisions 
and assets covering mathematical provisions and investments not financed from technical 
provisions (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 115/07)
3. Instruction for calculation of the item »Revaluation adjustment associated with assets not 
financed from technical provisions« on forms KUS-P and KUS-Ž (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
25/07)
4. Decision on annual report and quarterly financial statements of insurance undertakings – 
SKL 2007 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 28/07) 

Amendments to the existing implementing regulations
1. Decision amending the Decision on detailed contents of the summary audited annual report 
– SKL 2002 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 21/07)
2. Decision amending the Decision on detailed rules for calculation of the insurance undertak-
ings’ minimum capital (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 25/07)
3. Decision amending the Decision on detailed method of calculating capital and compliance 
with capital and capital adequacy requirements (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 25/07)
4. Instruction amending the Instruction for preparation of reports on investments of assets cov-
ering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions delivered by insurance 
undertakings on electronic media (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 28/07)
5. Decision amending the Decision on registers of insurance agents, insurance brokers, insur-
ance agencies and insurance brokerage companies (Decision on registers -1) (Official Gazette 
of the RS, No. 55/07)
6. Decision amending the Decision on detailed conditions for acquiring and examining the 
expertise necessary for transacting the business of insurance agency or brokerage (Official 
Gazette of the RS, No. 55/07)
7. Decision amending the Decision on reporting the statistical insurance data (Official Gazette 
of the RS, No. 118/07)
8. Decision amending the Decision on detailed form and minimum scope of audit and contents 
of auditor report (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 118/07)
9. Decision amending the Decision on annual report and quarterly financial statements of in-
surance undertakings – SKL 2007 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 119/07)
10. Decision amending the Decision on supervision of an insurance group (Official Gazette of 
the RS, No. 119/07  

The area of responsibility of the Agency also includes the issue of authorisations, consents 
and other decisions as well as orders on elimination of violations of regulations on insurance 
undertakings’ operations. In 2006 and 2007, the Agency issued the following authorisations, 
consents and other decisions as well as orders on elimination of violations: 
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Summary of issued authorisations and other decisions, consents and orders on elimination of violations in 
2007 and 2006

Type of authorisation 2007 2006

Authorisation for merger by acquisition of an insurance undertaking or other company 1

Authorisation to take into account a half of the non-paid-up capital of an insurance undertaking 1

Authorisation for transfer of spare funds from non-life to life insurance group 1

Authorisation for transfer of insurance contracts 1 1

Authorisation for performance of insurance/reinsurance operations 1

Authorisation to extend business to an additional class of insurance 1

Refusal of authorisation to extend business to an additional class of insurance 1

Refusal of authorisation for reorganisation in another type of company 1

Authorisation on the basis of compliance of insurance companies with the ZZavar 7

Authorisation for transfer of outsourced operations 2 2

Authorisation to acquire a qualifying holding in an insurance/pension company 3

Authorisation to exceed the limitation on assets 2 7

Authorisation to extend business to other classes of insurance 1

Authorisation for performance of the function of a member of the board of directors in an insurance 
undertaking

10 8

Refusal of authorisation for performance of the function of a member of the board of directors in 
an insurance company

2 1

Withdrawal of authorisation for performance of the function of a member of the board of directors 
in an insurance company

1

Authorisation for performance of tasks of a certified actuary 1 5

Authorisations for performance of insurance brokerage or agency services 739 677

Refusals of authorisations for performance of insurance brokerage or agency services 8 3

Decision on determination of a financial conglomerate 1

Decision establishing the expiry of authorisation to perform insurance operations 1 1

Decision on elimination of violations 5 1

Decision on appeal against an order 5 5

Decision on initiation of a procedure 3

Decision on withdrawal of an authorisation 4

Prior opinion to a bank for provision of insurance brokerage services (consent to issue an 
authorisation)

3

Refusal of consent for change of method of allocating profit in life insurance and amendments to 
technical bases in annuity insurance

2

Consideration of a notification on commencement of direct performance of insurance operations in 
the territory of an EU Member State

2 1

Consideration of a notification on commencement of performance of insurance operations through 
a branch in the territory of an EU Member State

1 1

Order on elimination of violations 11 10

Total 802 743

In 2007, the Agency co-operated with the Ministry of Finance in preparation of the Act amend-
ing the Insurance Act (ZZavar-D). 

There was another legislative effort in which the Agency participated in 2006 and 2007. Name-
ly, it took part in the working group – together with the Ministry of Finance, Bank of Slovenia and 
Securities Market Agency – preparing implementing regulations on the basis of the Financial 
Conglomerates Act.

Further, as in the previous years, the Agency had regular and when necessary also extraor-
dinary meetings with other financial supervisory authorities, members of the Co-operation 
Commission, which is composed of the vice governor of the Bank of Slovenia and/or director 
of the Department of Banking Operations Supervision of the Bank of Slovenia, director of the 
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Securities Market Agency, and director of the Insurance Supervision Agency. 

Together with the Bank of Slovenia and the Securities Market Agency, the Agency also partici-
pated in the working group set up in 2007 by the Co-operation Commission and charged with 
operational tasks deriving from the Financial Conglomerates Act and implementing regulations 
issued on the basis thereof. 

An increasingly important task is participation of the Insurance Supervision Agency in the Com-
mittee of European Insurance and Occupational Pension Supervisors – CEIOPS. CEIOPS is the 
main consultative body (“Primary Adviser”) to the European Commission in preparing insurance 
and pension directives. The major current task of CEIOPS is dealing with the Solvency II Project 
and with the subsequent changes in capital requirements for insurance undertakings as well 
as in the internal and external control. In the framework of the Solvency II Project, the Agency 
actively participated in the Financial Requirements Expert Group, established at the request of 
the European Commission, who is obliged to adopt the implementing measures provided for 
in the Proposal of a Directive on the taking-up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and 
Reinsurance (Solvency II).

In order to be able to fulfil its major mission, i.e. to provide security of policyholders, the Agency 
will have to ensure strict and continuous supervision in all areas of operation of insurance 
undertakings. Such supervision will be increasingly more important due to the rapidly growing 
importance of long-term insurance (life, pension and health), and also because of the wide 
variety of emerging new investments instruments and risks. 
 

Ljubljana, 26 June 2008                                                                      Mihael Perman, Ph.D.
                                                                                                                Director
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1 2As of the end of the year, there 
were three pension companies 
on the Slovenian insurance 
market, because of the trans-
fer of all insurance contract 
from one of the pension com-
panies to a newly established 
insurance company.

3In August 2007, Slovenica 
Življenje Life Insurance Com-
pany was renamed KD Življenje 
Insurance Company.

2

The Report on business performance of the insurance industry in 2007 is based on available 
data and information until mid-June 2008.

Introduction
In 2007, the Slovenian insurance market was shared by sixteen insurance undertakings (four-
teen insurance undertakings and two reinsurance undertakings), four 
pension companies2, the Nuclear pool, the Slovene Insurance Associa-
tion – Guarantee Fund and the First Pension Fund within the Pension 
Fund Management Company. After accession of Slovenia to the Europe-
an Union, the insurance market has been opened to foreign insurance 
undertakings, which perform the insurance business indirectly through 
three branches and directly through 305 foreign insurance companies. 

The majority of insurance undertakings perform both non-life and life insurance operations. 
Four insurance undertakings are specialised for non-life insurance, of which two underwrite 
only voluntary health insurance. One insurance undertaking is specialised only for life insur-
ance, one for life insurance, supplemented by accident insurance coverage, and one for life in-
surance, supplemented by accident and health insurance. Pension companies may be engaged 
in no other activities other than voluntary supplementary pension insurance operations.

However, 2007 brought certain changes to the insurance market. A new insurance company, 
Prva Personal Insurance Company, was established, to which all voluntary supplementary pen-
sion insurance contracts (portfolio) from Prva Pension Company have been transferred. After 
transfer of its portfolio, Prva Pension Company was renamed and reorganised as an insurance 
holding company. This change had no impact on the continuous implementation of rights and 
obligations arising from contracts concluded.  

The year 2007 brought to the insurance undertakings a number of legislative amendments, 
including amendment of the Insurance Act, the Health Care and Health Insurance Act and the 
Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act. 

In 2007, the insurance market continued to be controlled by three insurance groups: the first 
is grouped around Triglav Insurance Company as the parent (controlling) insurance undertak-
ing to Triglav Re Reinsurance Company and Triglav Health Insurance Company; the parent 
company of the second group is Sava Reinsurance Company, control-
ling Tilia Insurance Company and associated with Maribor Insurance 
Company and Moja naložba Pension Company, while Adriatic Slovenica 
Insurance Company and KD Življenje Insurance Company constitute the 
third group3.  

Legal framework

2.1. Insurance Act (ZZavar) and the Implementing Regulations issued on the 
Basis thereof

The basic act which regulates the issues related to establishment, operation, supervision and 
dissolution of insurance undertakings is the Insurance Act. This Act has introduced special 
rules applicable to insurance undertakings which are an important group of non-monetary 
financial institutions, while, at the same time, insurance undertakings as companies have to 
comply also with the legislation applying to the operation of companies in general.
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The Insurance Act was adopted on 27 January 2000 and successively extensively amended 
in 2002, 2004 and 2006 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 109/06 – official consolidated text) 
(ZZavar-UPB-2) and in 2007 (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 9/07 and 109/07). With the last 
amendment of the Insurance Act (ZZavar-D), published in November 2007, the full harmonisa-
tion with the acquis has been achieved, in particular with the Directive of the European Parlia-
ment and the Council on reinsurance and amending Council Directives 73/239/EEC, 92/49/
EEC as well as Directives 98/89/EC and 2002/83/EC. It also transposed the Council Directive 
2004/113/EC implementing the principle of equal treatment between men and women in the 
access to and supply of goods and services. 

In accordance with the Insurance Act, the Insurance Supervision Agency is authorised to issue 
regulations addressing the insurance area. Based on this provision, the Agency has prepared 
and adopted the implementing regulations. As regards their contents, the implementing regula-
tions may be divided into four major subgroups:

The first subgroup comprises the implementing regulations laying down the detailed rules for 
meeting prudential standards.  They stipulate the detailed rules for calculating the insurance 
undertakings’ minimum capital; the detailed types and features of assets covering techni-
cal provisions; the detailed rules and minimum standards relating to calculation of technical 
provisions; the method of valuation of assets and liabilities of the insurance undertaking; the 
method of calculation of the liquidity ratios to be applied; the requirements for calculation of 
the adjusted solvency requirement of parent insurance undertakings; and the method of calcu-
lating the insurance undertaking’s retention levels in the tables of maximum coverage.

The second subgroup lays down the detailed rules for reporting. The frequency of reporting 
depends on the type of report. An insurance undertaking is obliged to calculate, monitor and 
report to the Agency, on a quarterly basis, the relevant data on the amount of capital, capi-
tal requirements, capital adequacy, the amount of technical provisions, the value, types and 
spreading of assets covering technical provisions and investments not financed from technical 
provisions; the statistical insurance data and also the balance sheet and income statement 
data.

The implementing regulations laying down conditions for acquiring and examining the expertise 
required for performing the tasks of a certified actuary constitute the third subgroup.

The fourth subgroup consists of the implementing regulations laying down detailed conditions 
for acquiring and examining the expertise required for acquiring the authorisation to transact 
the business of insurance agency and brokerage.

2.2. Other Laws of Particular Importance for the Operation of Insurance 
Undertakings

Other laws which are of particular importance for the operation of insurance undertakings are: 
the Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (ZOZP), which among others regulates the com-
pulsory motor vehicle liability insurance or coverage of the owner of the vehicle for damages 
caused to third persons; the Health Care and Health Insurance Act (ZZVZZ), which allows for 
supplementary health insurance operations to be performed by the insurance undertakings; 
the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (ZPIZ-1), which regulates also the area of voluntary sup-
plementary pension insurance; and the Financial Conglomerates Act (ZFK), which provides for 
the supplementary supervision of financial sectors entities in a financial conglomerate. 
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2.2.1. Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (ZOZP)

The Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 110/06 - official 
consolidated text) (ZOZP-UPB2) regulates the following compulsory transport insurance class-
es: accident insurance of passengers in public transport (except passengers in air transport), 
motor vehicle liability insurance or coverage of the owner of the motor vehicle, ship and aircraft 
for damages caused to third persons, and aircraft owner liability insurance for damages caused 
to passengers, baggage and freight. In the EU, this particular area is regulated by a special set 
of directives, which are incorporated into the ZOZP. With the Act amending the Compulsory Mo-
tor Third-party Liability Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 30/06; ZOZP-C) its provisions were 
aligned with the Regulation (EC) No 785/2004 of the European Parliament and the Council of 
21 April 2004 on insurance requirements for air carriers and aircraft operators (OJ L No. 138 
of 30 April 2004). The amendments apply in particular to the aircraft carriers and aircraft op-
erators, their minimum insurance cover for liability in respect of passengers, baggage, cargo 
and for third persons, and have eliminated the distinction between national and international 
air transport. 

In May 2007 the new Act amending the Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (Official Ga-
zette of the RS, No 52/07; ZOZP-D) was adopted to transpose the provisions of the Directive 
2005/14/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council  of 11 May 2005 amending Council 
Directives 72/166/EEC, 84/5/EEC, 88/357/EEC and 90/232/EEC and Directive 2000/26/
EC of the European Parliament and of the Council relating to insurance against civil liability in 
respect of the use of motor vehicles (OJ L No. 149 of 11 June 2005). The amendments are 
focused in particular on improvement of the existing cover of the victims of traffic accidents, 
because they provide for a higher compensation for damage, and contribute to solving the most 
frequent practical problems, with the objective of consolidating the single insurance market in 
the area of compulsory motor insurance.

2.2.2. Health Care and Health Insurance Act (ZZVZZ)

In recent years, the question of how much public and private funds should be allocated to 
health care is becoming increasingly topical in Slovenia, as in all market economies. The Health 
Care and Health Insurance Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 72/06 – official consolidated 
text) (ZZVZZ-UPB3)  sets the framework of the health care and health insurance system, the 
scope of rights and obligations of the insured and institutions implementing the social concern 
for health and their tasks, regulates the relationship between the provider of the compulsory 
health insurance, providers of health services and the insured in exercising their rights deriv-
ing from health insurance. In 2006, the Act amending the Health Care and Health Insurance 
Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 38/06; ZZVZZ-I) was adopted, providing that the conditions 
for any transformation of a mutual insurance company into a public limited company shall be 
regulated by a special law. Following those provisions, the Act on Conditions for Status Trans-
forming of Vzajemna Health Insurance Company d.v.z. (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 60/07) 
(ZPSPVZZ) was adopted in mid-2007. In September 2007, it was followed by the Act amending 
the Health Care and Health Insurance Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 91/07) (ZZVZZ-J) 
laying down detailed rules on data which, following the introduction of equalisation schemes, 
providers of health services are obliged to make available to insurance companies offering 
supplementary health insurance.

The health insurance consists of compulsory and voluntary insurance. The provider of the com-
pulsory health insurance is the Health Insurance Institute of the Republic of Slovenia, while the 
voluntary health insurance operations may be performed by insurance companies holding the 
relevant authorisation. The ZZVZZ allows the insurance undertakings to perform four types of 
voluntary health insurance: supplementary health insurance, substitutional health insurance, 
additional health insurance and parallel health insurance.
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2.2.3. Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (ZPIZ-1)

The Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 109/06 – official 
consolidated text (ZPIZ-1-UPB), and Nos. 17/07 and 5/08) regulates the compulsory pension 
and invalidity insurance system on the basis of intergenerational solidarity, and supplementary 
pension and invalidity insurance of persons covered under the compulsory insurance. The 
compulsory insurance provider is the Institute of Pension and Invalidity Insurance of Slovenia. 
The said Act provides for compulsory supplementary insurance under the supplementary pen-
sion and invalidity insurance, provided by the compulsory supplementary insurance fund, which 
is managed by the Capital Fund of the pension and invalidity insurance. The ZPIZ-1 of 2000 
introduced the tax relief for the voluntary pension insurance premiums. The supplementary 
voluntary pension insurance represents collecting of funds on personal accounts of persons 
insured under this form of insurance with the purpose of providing them, upon attaining a 
certain age or in other cases defined by the pension scheme (right to supplementary invalidity 
pension and supplementary survivor’s pension), with supplementary pensions or other rights. 
Pension schemes may be provided by pension funds or insurance undertakings holding the au-
thorisation to perform life insurance operations in conformity with the Insurance Act. A pension 
fund may be established as a mutual pension fund or as a pension company. In any case, this 
Act has a major impact on insurance undertakings’ operations since on the basis thereof the 
insurance undertakings may have various roles: as pension scheme providers; as founders of 
open-end and close-end mutual pension funds; and as managers of mutual pension funds and 
pension companies. 

In 2006, the Act amending the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (ZPIZ-1G) was adopted (Of-
ficial Gazette of the RS, No. 69/06) transposing the provisions of the Directive 2003/41/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council on the activities and supervision of institutions for 
occupational retirement provision (OJ L No. 235 of 23 October 2006). The main amendments 
relate to the obligation of properly informing the members and beneficiaries and to the state-
ment of investment policy principles.

2.2.4. Financial Conglomerates Act (ZFK)

The Financial Conglomerates Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 43/06), passed in 2006, trans-
posed into the Slovenian legislation the Directive 2002/87/EC of the European Parliament and 
of the Council of 16 December 2002 on the supplementary supervision of credit institutions, 
insurance undertakings and investment firms in a financial conglomerate (OJ L No. 35 of 11 
February 2003) and provided for the supervision of regulated entities from different financial 
sectors (banks, insurance companies, pension companies, stockbroking companies, manage-
ment companies) when belonging to the same financial conglomerate. Four implementing acts 
(rules) were adopted in 2007 on the basis of the ZFK. Currently, there is only one conglomerate 
registered on the Slovenian market according to the criteria set out in the ZFK.     

Insurance companies

3.1. Structure of the Insurance Market by Types and Classes of Insurance

The gross insurance premiums written in 2007 amounted to EUR 1,799.4 million, of which non-
life premiums totalled EUR 918.3 million or 51 %, life premiums EUR 513.1 million or 28.5 %, 
and voluntary health premiums EUR 368 million or 20.4 %. 

In comparison with 2006, there was a 5.3 % rise in insurance business in real terms, measured 
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by insurance premiums written (the average inflation rate in 2007, expressed by the harmonised 
index of consumers' prices, was 6.4 %). The growth of the gross premium written recorded a 
3.8 percentage point drop in comparison with the previous reference period. The most vigorous 
growth year-on-year was again recorded in life assurance (the gross insurance premium written 
increased by 14.5 % in real terms). The second comes voluntary health insurance, where the 
gross insurance premium written increased by 2.9 % in real terms. Also the gross premium writ-
ten for life insurance grew – by 1.6 % in real terms. 

The share of life insurance premiums in the total premium increased by 2.2 percentage points 
on account of a decrease in the share of voluntary health insurance premiums by 0.4 percent-
age point and non-life insurance premiums by 1.8 percentage points.

Figure 1
Movements in gross insurance premiums written in the period 2005–2007 by type of insurance (EUR million)

Source: St-23 and St-50 Forms.

The comparison of gross insurance premium collected by non-life insurance classes shows 
that almost 88 % of non-life insurance premiums were collected in only five insurance classes. 
These are: motor vehicle liability insurance, land motor vehicle insurance, accident insurance, 
other damage to property insurance, and fire and natural forces insurance. Of these, a nomi-
nal rise of market share in the reference period was recorded in land motor vehicle insurance 
(by 1.3 percentage points) and other damage to property insurance (by 0.2 percentage point), 
while a nominal drop was recorded in motor vehicle liability insurance (by 1.3 percentage 
points), accident insurance (by 0.2 percentage point), and fire and natural forces insurance 
(by 0.1 percentage point). About 57 % of total non-life insurance premium was collected in 
motor vehicles insurance. Other important classes in terms of insurance premium written are 
accident insurance, accounting for almost 12 % of non-life premium, as well as fire and natural 
forces insurance and other damage to property insurance, together representing 19.2 % of 
non-life premium. 

The highest growth rates among the non-life insurance classes in 2007, by gross insurance 
premium written, were recorded in classes which are not among the most important non-life 
insurance classes in terms of gross insurance premium written: the most prominent growth of 
gross premium written was recorded in legal expenses insurance (by 36.0 %), tourist assist-
ance insurance (by 16.1 %), liability for ship insurance (by 15.6 %) and aircraft liability insurance 
(by 10.4 %). By contrast, the most pronounced growth in terms of gross claims incurred was 
recorded in railway rolling stock insurance and legal expenses insurance.
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Figure 2
Non-life insurance premiums collected in the period 2005–2007, other than health insurance (EUR million)

Source: St-23 and St-50 Forms.
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Table 1
Gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred in the period 2006–2007 by major insurance 
classes (EUR million)

2006 2007

Insurance class Gross 
premium 

written (1)

Gross claims 
incurred* (2)

Claims ratio 
(2/1)

Gross 
premium 

written (1)

Gross claims 
incurred* (2)

Claims ratio 
(2/1)

Accident 102.2 45.4 0.44 108.0 42.6 0.39

Land motor vehicle 166.9 126.4 0.76 191.8 147.0 0.77

Goods in transit insurance 7.1 1.7 0.26 8.1 3.1 0.38

Fire and natural forces 74.7 33.8 0.45 79.8 47.7 0.60

Other damages to property 87.6 55.9 0.64 96.8 73.3 0.76

Motor vehicle liability 315.9 171.1 0.54 330.0 182.2 0.55

General liability 39.2 32.5 0.83 43.3 33.6 0.78

Credit 37.6 27.2 0.72 39.7 28.3 0.71

Other non-life insurance 18.8 15.9 0.84 20.8 9.8 0.47

TOTAL 850.0 509.9 0.60 918.3 567.6 0.62

Voluntary health, sickness 336.8 290.9 0.86 368.0 294.2 0.80

Life assurance 424.4 124.8 0.29 513.1 139.1 0.27

TOTAL 1,611.2 925.6 0.57 1,799.4 1,000.9 0.56

* Not including claim assessment costs.
Source: St-23 and St-27 Forms.

Table 1 shows gross premiums written, gross claims incurred and the share of gross claims 
incurred in gross insurance premium written in life insurance, health insurance and those 
classes of non-life insurance which are the major classes in this insurance group by insur-
ance premium written. The comparison of gross insurance premiums written and gross claims 
incurred shows that the aggregate claims ratio slightly improved in 2007 in comparison with 
the previous year. An improved claims ratio is seen in voluntary health and life insurance, while 
non-life insurance shows a slight deterioration of the claims ratio. 

The claims ratio for voluntary health insurance improved by 6 percentage points year-on-year, 
boosted by the growth in the gross premiums. The improved claims ratio for life assurance by 2 
percentage points is an indicator of growing premiums from life assurance, despite the aging in 
this insurance portfolio, and a lower share of matured liabilities under life assurance contracts 
as compared to the previous year. The low claims ratio for life insurance can be attributed to 
the fact that those contracts are long-term, concluded for a period of 10 years or more, with 
the majority of insurance contracts not yet matured. The deterioration by 2 percentage points 
of the claims ratio for non-life insurance is mainly due to an increased claims ratio in fire and 
natural forces insurance, as well as in other damage to property insurance.

An analysis of gross insurance premium written and gross claims incurred by major classes of 
non-life insurance reveals that the claims ratio deteriorated most in fire and natural forces in-
surance, by as much as 15 percentage points, in other damage to property and goods in transit 
insurance by 12 percentage points, as well as in land motor vehicle insurance and motor vehi-
cle liability insurance, by 1 percentage point. The most significant improvement was recorded 
in other non-life insurance, accident insurance and general liability insurance. 
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Figure 3
Gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred in 2007 by insurance classes (EUR million)

* Not including claim assessment costs.
Source: St-23, St-27 and St-50 Forms.

Table 2
Gross insurance premiums written, number of persons covered and policies in the period 2006-2007 by 
life insurance classes (EUR million)

2006 2007

Number of 
policies

Number of 
persons 
insured

Gross 
insurance 
premiums

Number of 
policies

Number of 
persons 
insured

Gross 
insurance 
premiums

Life assurance (without other insurance 
classes in life assurance group)

579,756 726,114 235.3 579,147 734,188 230.7

Marriage and birth assurance 2,154 2,154 0.8 2,082 2,082 0.7

Life assurance linked to investment 
fund units or units of assets covering 
mathematical provisions

208,566 216,122 172.3 311,318 322,141 237.7

Tontine 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital redemption insurance 42,413 42,413 16.0 113,246 113,246 44.0

Insurance of loss of income due to 
accident or illness

0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 832,889 986,803 424.4 1,005,793 1,171,657 513.1

Source: St-19 and St-23 Forms.

As at the end of 2007, the insurance undertakings had issued 1,005,793 policies for life 
insurance, covering 1,171,657 persons. In comparison with the previous year, the number of 
policies increased by 20.8 % and the number of insured persons covered by 18.7 %, while the 
gross insurance premium written in life insurance increased by 20.9 %.  
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The largest share in the life assurance group, in terms of insurance premiums collected, was 
in 2007 for the first time achieved by life assurance linked to investment fund units or to units 
of assets covering mathematical provisions, with 46.3 % of the total premium (40.6 % in 2006) 
and 27.5 % of all insured persons in the life assurance group (21.9 % in 2006). This insurance 
class also recorded the most marked improvement year-on-year: the number of policies in-
creased by 49.3 %, the number of insured persons by 49.1 % and the gross insurance premium 
written by 37.9 %. 

The second largest share in the life assurance group is the life assurance class (Article 2(2), 
point 19, of the Insurance Act) with 45 % of gross insurance premium written and 62.7 % of 
all policyholders in life assurance, the highest share within this insurance class being held by 
the death and endowment insurance – mixed insurance (71.0 % of gross insurance premium 
written and 78.1 % of all persons insured, accounting for 87.8 % of all life assurance policies). 
The next largest – by the number of persons insured and total gross insurance premium writ-
ten in the life assurance class – is the death insurance with 16.9 % and 5.1 %, respectively, 
followed by annuity insurance covering 2.2 % of persons and 2.7 % of gross insurance premium 
written. 

Supplementary accident insurance has been concluded for 502,116 life insurance policies, 
covering 564,336 persons. In comparison to 2007, the number of policies with the supplemen-
tary accident cover increased by 6.9 %, while the number of policyholders increased by 5.1 %. 

Insurance and pension companies classify the voluntary pension insurance under the life as-
surance class – voluntary pension and invalidity insurance – or under life assurance linked to 
investment funds units or to units of assets covering mathematical provisions, or under the 
capital redemption insurance class. In comparison with 2006, the number of policies and the 
number of insured in the life assurance class – voluntary pension and invalidity insurance – 
fell by as much as 7.6 %, while the growth index for number of policies and the number of the 
insured in capital redemption insurance under ZPIZ-1 notched 267, both for the number of poli-
cies and the number of insured persons year-on-year. 

3.2. Structure of the Insurance Market by Shares

Market shares of insurance undertakings slightly changed year-on-year. The most pronounced 
growth of its market share was recorded by KD Življenje (by 0.8 percentage point). Also Generali 
Insurance Company succeeded in increasing its market share (by 0.4 percentage point), as well 
as Triglav Health Insurance Company (by 0.3 percentage point) and NLB Vita and SID - Prva 
kreditna Insurance Company (by 0.1 percentage point). The biggest drop in its market share 
was recorded by Triglav Insurance Company – by as much as 1.6 percentage points, followed 
by the Mutual Health Insurance Company, whose market share fell by 1 percentage point, while 
the market shares of Adriatic Slovenica went down by 0.5 percentage point and of Maribor In-
surance Company by 0.1 percentage point.  

Despite the downward trend in the recent years – mainly in life insurance – Triglav Insurance 
Company is still holding the biggest market share (39.4 %). The second largest is Adriatic 
Slovenica Insurance Company with 14.0 % of the market. The third place was held by Maribor 
Insurance Company, which with its 13.0 % market share had overtaken the Mutual Health 
Insurance Company holding 12.6 % of the market. The combined market share of the four larg-
est insurance companies in 2007 was 79 %, which is 3.2 percentage points less than in the 
previous year.  
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Table 3
Gross insurance premiums written and market shares in 2007 (EUR million)

2007

Insurance company Non-life % Health % Life % Total %

Adriatic Slovenica Insurance 
Company

145.0 15.8 89.5 24.3 17.0 3.3 251.5 14.0

Arag Legal Insurance 1.2 0.1 / / / / 1.2 0.1

Generali Insurance Company 36.2 4.0 / / 18.7 3.6 54.9 3.1

Grawe Insurance Company 11.7 1.3 / / 24.4 4.8 36.1 2.0

KD Življenje Insurance 
Company

/ / / / 57.6 11.2 57.6 3.2

Merkur Insurance Company 6.1 0.7 0.1 0.0 35.1 6.9 41.3 2.3

NLB Vita 1.4 0.1 / / 35.0 6.8 36.4 2.0

Prva Personal Insurance 
Company

/ / / / 26.8 5.2 26.8 1.5

SID – Prva kreditna Insurance 
Company

14.1 1.5 / / / / 14.1 0.8

Triglav Health Insurance 
Company

/ / 51.6 14.0 / / 51.6 2.8

Maribor Insurance Company 170.9 18.6 / / 63.7 12.4 234.6 13.0

Tilia Insurance Company 48.6 5.3 / / 9.5 1.9 58.1 3.2

Triglav Insurance Company 483.0 52.6 / / 225.3 43.9 708.3 39.4

Mutual Health Insurance 0.1 0.0 226.8 61.7 / / 226.9 12.6
TOTAL 918.3 100 368.0 100 513.1 100 1,799.4 100

Source: St-23 Form.

As regards non-life insurance, other than health insurance, Triglav Insurance Company retained 
its strong leading position in the market. Although its market share fell by as much as 1.2 
percentage points, it still holds 52.6 % of the market. The second largest is Maribor Insurance 
Company with a 18.6 % share, while the third place is held by Adriatic Slovenica Insurance 
Company with a 15.8 % share. The decrease in the respective market shares of the first and 
the third biggest insurance undertakings in non-life insurance benefited smaller insurance un-
dertakings: Generali, SID – Prva kreditna, Tilia and Grawe. 

In life insurance, again the major market share (43.9 %) is still held by Triglav Insurance Com-
pany, followed by Maribor Insurance Company with a 12.4 % share, KD Življenje with an 11.2 % 
share, Merkur Insurance Company with a 6.9 % share, while the fourth, NLB Vita, holds a 6.8 % 
market share. The most prominent growth in terms of premiums written in life assurance was 
recorded in particular by KD Življenje Insurance Company (by 2.1 percentage points), Generali 
Insurance Company (by 0.6 percentage point) and NLB Vita Insurance Company (by 0.1 percent-
age point). On the other hand, the highest drop in their respective market shares was recorded 
by Triglav Insurance Company, going down by 4.1 percentage points, and Maribor Insurance 
Company, which lost 0.9 percentage point. A noteworthy drop was recorded also by Adriatic 
Slovenica Insurance Company and Merkur Insurance Company, down 0.6 percentage point.   

In voluntary health insurance the Mutual Insurance Company still held the leading position 
with a 61.7 % share, which is by 3.3 percentage points less than in the previous year. Second 
comes Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company with 24.3 % of the market – which is a rise of 1.1 
percentage point year-on-year, while Triglav Health Insurance had a 14.0 % market share or 2.2 
percentage points more than in the previous year.
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3.3. EU Member States Insurance Undertakings, directly performing 
Insurance Operations in Slovenia, and Comparison with Other Countries

The number of insurance undertakings with their registered offices on the territory of the EU 
Member States, being authorised to directly perform insurance operations in the Republic 
of Slovenia, totalled 305 in 2007. The majority of them have their registered offices in Great 
Britain (80 insurance undertakings or 26.2 % of all EU Member States insurance undertakings, 
directly performing insurance operations in Slovenia), in Ireland (31 insurance undertakings), 
Austria (31 insurance undertakings), Italy (21 insurance undertakings), Germany (20 insurance 
undertakings), Luxembourg (19 insurance undertakings), France (14 insurance undertakings), 
Sweden (11 insurance undertakings), Belgium (10 insurance undertakings) and the Netherlands 
(10 insurance undertakings). The number of insurance undertakings, established in other Mem-
ber States, i.e. Hungary, Liechtenstein, Finland, Denmark, Poland, Spain, the Czech Republic, 
Slovakia, Gibraltar, Estonia, Lithuania, Latvia, Malta, Norway, Bulgaria, 
Greece, Portugal and Romania, and directly performing insurance busi-
ness in Slovenia, is less than 10 per country. There are also three 
branches of the EU Member State insurance undertakings performing 
insurance business in Slovenia4

The figures for the total premium collected under insurance contracts concluded in 2007 by EU 
Member States insurance undertakings, directly performing insurance operations in Slovenia, 
are not yet available. The total premiums from such insurance in 20065 
amounted to EUR 9.2 million and the total claims to EUR 2 million. 
The major share of premiums was collected by insurance undertakings 
from Great Britain (42 %), Austria (37.5 %), Ireland, Italy, Germany, Den-
mark, France, the Netherlands, Luxembourg and Belgium. Total premium collected by branches 
of the EU Member States insurance undertakings in the same period was in 2006 higher by 7.6 
% than in the previous year and totalled EUR 5,944.9 thousand, while claims under insurance 
contracts amounted to a mere EUR 331 thousand. 

However, the total premium from insurance contracts directly concluded by Slovenian insur-
ance in the EU Member States in 2007 increased by EUR 554.3 thousand or 228.7 % and 
amounted to EUR 796.7 thousand, with the major share collected in Slovakia (57.7 %), followed 
by the Czech Republic (22 %), Germany (18.4 %), Italy, Austria, Poland and Hungary.  

Compared to other European countries, Slovenia is a medium devel-
oped insurance market6. By the share of gross insurance premiums in 
GNP it ranks thirteenth among the EU Member States with 64.4 % of 
the EU average (67.5 % in 2005), ahead of Spain, Cyprus, Luxembourg, the Czech Republic, 
Poland, the Slovak Republic, Hungary, Bulgaria, Estonia, Latvia, Greece, Lithuania and Roma-
nia, but lagging behind the other EU Member States. Its ranking is slightly lower in terms of 
premium income per capita – it occupies only the fifteenth place. The share of life insurance 
premiums in the total premium, i.e. only 31.3 %, is still significantly lower than in comparable 
countries, since all other countries, except Bulgaria, Latvia and Romania, as well as Lithuania 
with the same share, manage to obtain a share higher by even one half and more. However, 
the share is on a steady rise, having increased by 11.9 percentage points since 2000. Such 
dissimilarity results mainly from the large share of social insurance, insufficient public knowl-
edge of life assurance products offered, combined with the low awareness of the need for such 
insurance. 

4 i.e. branches of insurance 
companies Wiener Städtische 
Allgemeine Versicherung AG, 
Victoria – Volksbanken Ver-
sicherungs AG and Allianz Hun-
garia Zrt.

6The most recent available data 
refer to 2006.

5The data are incomplete and 
therefore no comparison with 
the previous year is possible.
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Table 4
Insurance premium volume in Slovenia and other countries in 2006

Country
Total premium volume 

(USD million)
Share of total insurance 

premium in GNP (%)
Total insurance premium 

per capita (USD)

Share of life insurance 
premium in the total 

insurance premium (%)

Austria (AT) 19,568 6.1 2,396.7 46.1

Belgium (BE) 37,889 9.2 3,442.5 66.2

Bulgaria (BG) 774 2.6 100.9 13.1

Cyprus (CY) 766 4.3 906.6 45.1

Czech Republic (CZ) 5,304 3.8 519.6 39.3

Denmark (DK) 23,262 8.5 4,271.4 66.5

Estonia (EE) 375 2.5 283.2 33.1

Finland (FI) 19,308 9.1 3,681.2 78.9

France (FR) 251,164 11.0 4,075.4 70.8

Greece (GR) 5,442 1.8 489.3 52.5

Ireland (IE) 47,281 10.4 5,564.7 79.0

Italy (IT) 138,679 7.2 2,302.2 64.6

Latvia (LA) 360 2.0 156.9 7.9

Lithuania (LT) 526 1.8 154.0 31.3

Luxembourg (LU) 16,480 3.9 3,366.3 88.5

Hungary (HU) 3,789 3.4 376.2 51.1

Germany (DE) 204,544 6.7 2,436.8 46.4

Netherlands (NL) 62,559 9.4 3,828.8 54.1

Poland (PL) 11,947 3.5 310.3 48.5

Portugal (PT) 17,679 9.0 1,663.8 68.2

Romania (RO) 2,044 1.7 94.5 19.8

Slovakia (SK) 1,820 3.4 336.9 38.7

Slovenia (SI) 2,164 5.8 1,100.9 31.3

Spain (ES) 65,813 5.4 1,514.6 43.0

Sweden (SE) 29,182 7.6 3,226.2 68.6

United Kingdom (UK) 418,366 16.5 6,466.7 74.5

EU (27)* 1,387,494 9.0 2,667.4 64.9

* All EU Member States, including Malta and  the United Kingdom.
Source: Sigma 4/2007.

Figure 4
Insurance premiums in GNP (%) by EU Member States in 2006

Source: Sigma 5/2206
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Figure 5
Growth of gross premiums written from 2006 to 2007 (%)

Source: CEIOPS – Draft Autumn 2007 Report on Financial Condition and Financial Stability in the European Insurance and Occupa-
tional Pension Fund Sector 2006-2007

As deriving from the data submitted to the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational 
Pensions Supervisors (CEIOPS) by 25 countries, the majority of countries reported an increase 
in the growth of life premiums in 2006 and in the first half of 2007. The weighted average gross 
premiums in life insurance enterprises increased by 15.1 % over 2005, while the corresponding 
growth for non-life insurance recorded 14.5 %. The growth of non-life premiums in 2007 was 
strongly affected by the high growth rate in the Netherlands, resulting from the privatisation of 
its health insurance sector. Excluding the non-life data for the Netherlands, the overall growth 
was 5.5 %.  The growth rate for composite insurance companies notched 9.8 %.

3.4. Income Statements

The review of income statements for 2007 covers mainly unaudited income statements, sep-
arately for insurance and reinsurance undertakings. Insurance undertakings prepared their 
statements in accordance with the implementing regulations issued by the Agency (Decision 
on annual report and quarterly financial statements of insurance undertakings – SKL2007, 
Decision on the framework chart of accounts for insurance undertakings – SKL2002, Decision 
on the detailed method of valuation of accounting items and compiling financial statements) 
and in 2007 for the first time also by applying the methodology of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

The Decision on the annual report and quarterly financial statements of insurance undertak-
ings – SKL2007 lays down detailed contents of the annual report, which should consist of the 
required financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, state-
ment of changes in equity capital, including statement of distribution of balance-sheet profit 
and coverage of balance-sheet loss), notes to the financial statements and business report.

3.4.1. Income Statements of Insurance Undertakings

The income statement of an insurance undertaking shows revenues, expenditure and the op-
erating result for the financial year concerned, separately for non-life, without health, life and 
health insurance. 
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Table 5
Summary income statement of the insurance undertakings for 2006 and 2007 (EUR million)

D. INCOME STATEMENT OF INSURANCE UNDERTAKINGS 2006 2007

I. Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance (A.X) 64.7 69.1

II. Profit or loss from life insurance operations (B.XIII) 13.8 20.8

III. Profit or loss from health insurance operations (C.XIII) -2.1 9.9

IV. Investment revenue 74.6 118.7

V. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement of life insurance operations (B.XII) 3.8 8.3

VI. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement of health insurance operations 
(C.XII)

1.3 4.1

VII. Investment expenses 13.0 21.2

VIII. Allocated investment gains transferred to the income statement of non-life insurance operations, 
other than health insurance operations (A II)

56.8 85.5

IX. Other revenue from insurance operations 4.2 7.0

X. Other expenses from insurance operations 8.4 8.5

XI. Other revenue 1.7 1.3

XII. Other expenses 0.4 0.4

XIII. Income tax 28.4 25.2

XIV Deferred taxes -3.3 -3.3

XV. NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (I+II+III+IV+V+VI-VII-VIII+IX-X+XI-XII-XIII±XIV ) 51.7 95.1

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2006 and unaudited income statements of insurance companies 
for 2007

For the financial year 2007, insurance companies posted the aggregate net profit in the amount 
of EUR 95.1 million, which is EUR 43.4 million more than in 2006, when the aggregate net 
profit amounted to EUR 51.7 million. They achieved a positive technical account in non-life 
(EUR 69.1 million) and life insurance (EUR 20.9 million) as well as in health insurance (EUR 9.9 
million).

Two insurance undertakings showed a net loss in 2007, totalling EUR 600 thousand, while in 
2006, a net loss in the aggregate amount of EUR 12.1 million was posted by three insurance 
undertakings. 

Table 6
Summary income statement from non-life insurance, other than health insurance, for 2006 and 2007 
(EUR million)

A. INCOME STATEMENT FOR NON-LIFE INSURANCE, OTHER THAN HEALTH 2006 2007

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 680.2 733.3

II. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement from ordinary activities 56.8 85.5

III. Other net revenue from insurance operations 7.7 7.1

IV. Net expenses for damages paid 489.5 522.6

V. Change in net other technical provisions (+/-) -1.3 -3.0

VI. Net expenses for bonuses and discounts 10.3 11.8

VII. Net operating expenses 146.9 188.9

VIII. Other net insurance expenses 19.5 30.5

IX. Change in equalisation provision (+/-) 12.5 0.0

X. Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance  (I+II+III-IV+/-V-VI-VII-VIII+/-IX) 64.7 69.1

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2006 and unaudited income statements of insurance companies 
for 2007.

Net revenues from insurance premium from non-life insurance, other than health insurance, 
earned in 2007 grew by 7.8 %, and the allocated investment gains transferred from income 
statement from ordinary activities by 50.5 %. On the other hand, also net expenses for damages 
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paid increased by 6.8 %, net operating expenses by 28.6 % and other net insurance expenses 
by 56.4 %. As a result, insurance undertakings recorded a positive technical account from non-
life insurance in the amount of EUR 69.1 million, which is better by 6.8 % than in the previous 
year. 

Table 7
Summary income statement from life insurance for 2006 and 2007 (EUR million)

B. INCOME STATEMENT FROM LIFE INSURANCE 2006 2007

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 412.7 473.6

II. Investment revenue 72.6 97.3

III. Net unrealised profits from investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance policies that have 
assumed the investment risk

32.1 69.5

IV. Other net revenue from insurance operations 21.4 27.8

V. Net expenses for damages paid 127.3 136.8

VI. Change in other net technical provisions (+/-) -274.6 -352.8

VII. Net expenses for bonuses and discounts 0.0 0.2

VIII. Net operating expenses 86.3 110.1

IX. Investment expenses 10.8 10.7

X. Net unrealised losses from investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance policies that 
have assumed the investment risk

1.3 4.3

XI. Other net insurance expenses 20.9 24.2

XII. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement from ordinary activities 3.8 8.3

XIII. Profit or loss from life insurance operations  (I+II+III+IV-V+/-VI-VII-VIII-IX-XI-XII) 13.8 20.8

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2006 and unaudited income statements of insurance companies 
for 2007.

Net revenues from insurance premiums for life insurance in 2007 grew by 14.8 %, which is 4.9 
percentage points less than the figures posted in 2006. Investment revenue went up by 34.0 
% and net unrealised profits from investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance poli-
cies that have assumed the investment risk by as much as 116.5 %. But also net expenses for 
damages paid rose by 7.4 %, net operating expenses by 27.6 %, changes in other net technical 
provisions by 28.5 %, other net insurance expenses by 15.8 %, which led to the result of EUR 
20.8 million – an improvement of 50.7 % in comparison with 2006.

Table 8
Summary income statement from health insurance for 2006 and 2007 (EUR million)

C. PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT FOR HEALTH INSURANCE 2006 2007

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 336.3 364.6

II. Investment revenue 8.8 9.1

III. Other net revenue from insurance operations 0.0 1.4

IV. Net expenses for damages paid 296.3 297.0

V. Change in other net technical provisions (+/-) 12.1 -0.5

VI. Net expenses for bonuses and discounts 0.8 0.0

VII. Net operating expenses 53.0 51.0

VIII. Investment expenses -0.4 1.6

IX. Other net insurance expenses 2.9 1.7

X. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement of ordinary activities (-) 1.3 4.1

XI. Profit or loss from health assurance (I+II+III–IV±V-VI-VII–VIII–IX–X)  before allocating the half of the positive 
result from supplementary insurance

3.3 19.2

XII. Allocated half of the positive result from supplementary insurance 5.4 9.3

XIII. Profit or loss from health insurance (XI-XII) -2.1 9.9

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2006 and unaudited income statements of insurance companies 
for 2007.
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The technical account of health insurance in 2007 greatly improved in comparison with the 
previous year, when it was negative, with the loss of EUR 2.1 million. In 2007 it already showed 
a profit of EUR 9.9 million. This favourable result was mostly boosted by net revenue from 
insurance premiums, which increased by 8.4 % from the previous year, against net expenses 
for damages paid having gone up by only 0.24 %. Also investment revenue increased by 3.4 %, 
while net operating expenses fell by 3.8 %. 

Table 9
Summary income statement from supplementary health insurance for 2006 and 2007 (EUR million)

Ca. INCOME STATEMENT FROM SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE 2006 2007

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 330.5 357.3

II. Investment revenue 8.8 8.4

III. Other net revenue from insurance operations 0.0 1.4

IV. Net expenses for damages paid 295.0 295.1

V. Change in other net technical provisions (+/-) 12.1 -0.4

VI. Net expenses for bonuses and discounts 0.0 0.0

VII. Net operating expenses 49.7 46.7

VIII. Investment expenses 0.8 1.5

IX. Other net insurance expenses 2.5 1.6

X. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement of ordinary activities (-) 1.3 4.1

XI. Profit or loss from supplementary insurance  (I+II+III-IV+/-V-VI-VII-VIII-IX-X) 2.1 17.7

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2006 and unaudited income statements of insurance companies 
for 2007.

Supplementary (co-payment) health insurance means voluntary health insurance covering the 
difference, or part thereof, between the total costs of health services and the costs covered 
by compulsory health insurance subject to the act regulating compulsory health insurance. 
The Decision on annual report and quarterly financial statements of insurance undertakings 
– SKL2007 (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 28/07 and 119/07) imposes on the insurance 
undertaking, performing the above insurance operations, to separately compile the income 
statement and balance sheet for supplementary health insurance. There are three insurance 
undertakings offering such insurance in the Slovenian market; their aggregate result from sup-
plementary health insurance at the end of the 2007 financial year totalled EUR 17.7 million, 
which is EUR 15.6 million or 743 % more than in the previous year. Net revenue from supple-
mentary health insurance premiums increased by 8.1 % year-on-year, amounting to EUR 357.3 
million and representing 98 % of net revenue from premiums for the whole health insurance 
group. At the same time the net expenses for damages paid slightly increased (by 0.03 %), 
totalling EUR 295.1 million or 99.4 % of net expenses for damages paid for the whole health 
insurance group. Net operating expenses decreased by 6 % in comparison with the previous 
year. 

3.4.2. Income Statements of Reinsurance Undertakings

Also in 2007 both reinsurance undertakings generated a positive result in the amount of EUR 
22.4 million – by 37.4 % better than in the previous year. The technical account deteriorated in 
comparison with the previous year and accounted for EUR 11.3 million (down EUR 4.6 million 
from 2006). The moderate result of the technical account is mainly due to higher net expenses 
for damages paid, which in 2007 increased by 22.7 % or 14 percentage points more as com-
pared to the previous year, net operating expenses increased by 16.2 % (4.2 percentage points 
more than in the previous year), while net revenues from insurance premiums grew by 18.0 % 
(or 2.5 percentage points more than in the previous year). Despite this lower technical account, 
the reinsurance undertakings still posted a higher net profit due to increased investment rev-
enues – by 103 % year-on-year.    



17 Insurance Supervision Agency           Report on business performance of the insurance industry in 2007

Table 10
Summary income statement of the reinsurance undertakings for 2006 and 2007 (EUR million)

A. INCOME STATEMENT FROM NON-LIFE INSURANCE, OTHER THAN LIFE AND HEALTH 2006 2007

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 121.0 142.8

II. Allocated investment gains transferred from income statement from ordinary activities 8.8 5.7

IV. Net expenses for damages paid 78.5 96.3

V. Change in other net technical provisions (+/-) -0.4 -0.2

VII. Net operating expenses 35.1 40.8

VIII. Other net insurance expenses 0.7 0.3

IX. Change in equalisation provision (+/-) 0.0 0.0

X. Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance  (I+II-IV+/-V-VII-VIII+/-IX) 15.9 11.3

 D. INCOME STATEMENT OF REINSURANCE UNDERTAKINGS

I. Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance (A.X) 15.9 11.3

IV. Investment revenue 15.4 31.3

VII. Investment expenses 2.1 6.9

VIII. Allocated investment gains transferred to the income statement of non-life insurance 
operations, other than health insurance operations (A II)

8.8 5.7

IX. Other revenue from insurance operations 1.3 0.1

X. Other expenses from insurance operations 0.4 0.2

XI. Other revenue 0.0 0.0

XII. Other expenses 0.0 0.0

XIII. Income tax 5.0 9.9

XIV Deferred taxes 0.0 2.4

XV. NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (I+IV-VII-VIII+IX-X+XI-XII-XIII±XIV ) 16.3 22.4

Source: Unaudited income statements of reinsurance companies for 2006 and 2007.

3.5. Balance Sheets

3.5.1. Balance Sheets of Insurance Undertakings

The summary balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 covers all three 
types of insurance: non-life, life and health. Insurance undertakings were obliged to compile 
balance sheets for 2007 in accordance with the provisions of the International Financial Re-
porting Standards, and for both years separate balance sheets for non-life and life insurance 
in accordance with the Decision on the annual report and quarterly financial statements of 
insurance undertakings – SKL 2007.
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Table 11
Summary balance sheet of insurance undertakings as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 
(EUR million)

Life assurance Non-life insurance Consolidated balance sheet

2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007
Index 

07/06

ASSETS 1,713.0 2,299.5 1,805.6 2,250.6 3,518.6 4,550.1 129.3

A Intangible fixed assets 3.8 3.6 12.1 14.1 15.9 17.7 111.3

B Investments in land and buildings and 
other investments 1,367.5 1,744.1 1,461.8 1,877.7 2,829.3 3,621.8 128.0

– of which: Other investments 1,331.7 1,626.2 1,183.0 1,329.8 2,514.7 2,956.0 117.5

C Investments for the benefit of holders of 
life insurance policies that have assumed 
the investment risk 293.4 516.2 0.0 13.9 239.4 530.1 221.4

D Receivables; of which: 15.2 17.5 289.0 300.4 304.2 317.9 104.5

- Receivables arising from direct insurance 
operations 6.0 6.9 151.2 179.0 157.2 185.9 118.3

- Receivables arising from co-insurance and 
reinsurance operations 1.3 0.9 39.0 41.6 40.3 42.5 105.5

E Diverse assets 8.7 8.7 23.8 28.9 32.5 37.6 115.7

F Deferred costs and accrued revenue 24.4 9.4 18.9 15.6 43.3 25.0 57.7

 LIABILITIES 1,713.0 2,299.5 1,805.6 2,250.6 3,518.6 4,550.1 129.3

A Capital; of which: 191.5 240.2 398.3 702.4 589.8 942.6 159.8

– Called capital 57.3 69.3 128.0 137.3 185.3 206.6 111.5

B Subordinated liabilities 11.1 11.2 37.2 37.5 48.3 48.7 100.8

C Net technical provisions and deferred 
revenue from premiums 1,138.9 1,286.0 1,175.0 1,265.5 2,313.9 2,551.5 110.3

D Net technical provisions for the benefit 
of holders of life assurance policies that 
have assumed the investment risk 286.5 524.3 0.0 0.0 286.5 524.3 183.0

E Other provisions (for other risks and 
charges) 2.3 1.8 15.2 27.5 17.5 29.3 167.4

F Liabilities for investments of reinsurers 
under reinsurance contracts with ceding 
undertakings 22.9 27.8 5.7 0.0 28.6 27.8 97.2

G – Other liabilities;  of which 50.9 198.0 162.7 205.5 213.6 403.5 188.9

- Liabilities from direct insurance operations 10.4 12.4 32.6 36.2 43.0 48.6 113.0

– Liabilities from co-insurance and 
reinsurance operations 0.6 0.9 37.8 48.4 38.4 49.3 128.4

H Accrued cost and deferred revenue 8.9 10.2 11.5 12.2 20.4 22.4 109.8

Source: Audited balance sheets of insurance industry as of 31 December 2006 and unaudited balance sheets of insurance indus-
try as at 31 December 2007.

In 2007, the insurance undertakings increased their balance sheet total by EUR 1,031.5 million 
or 29.3 % in comparison with the previous year. By far the most flourishing growth on the as-
sets side was that of investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance policies that have 
assumed the investment risk – by 121.4 % or EUR 290.7 million – at the end of 2007 already 
representing 11.7 % of the balance sheet total and 22.4 % of the balance sheet total for life 
insurance. 

A vigorous growth is seen also in the investments in land and buildings and other invest-
ments, already representing the biggest item on the assets side (79.6 % of the balance sheet 
total), which grew by 28 %, mainly due to the increased share of investments in enterprises 
in the group and associates (by 80 %, resulting from expansion through purchases of foreign 
insurance undertakings) and to changed rules for disclosure of technical provisions, ceded in 
reinsurance.  This amount was in 2007 disclosed on the assets side under the item of invest-
ments under reinsurance contracts with ceding undertakings, while in 2006 it was disclosed 
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on the liabilities side, decreasing the amount of gross technical provisions. Other investments 
increased by 17.5 % and diverse assets by 15.7 %. An increase of fully 11 % was marked also 
in intangible fixed assets. Receivables rose by 4.5 %, primarily on account of increased receiva-
bles from direct insurance operations (by 18.3 %). The sharpest decline on the assets side was 
recorded under short-term accrued cost and deferred revenue (by 42.3 %). 

The liabilities side reveals by far the most vigorous growth in other liabilities (by 88.9 %), al-
ready representing 8.9 % of the balance sheet total as of the end of 2007. This growth can 
be mostly attributed to increased liabilities from financial contracts as a direct consequence 
of applying the International Financial Reporting Standards, which differentiate between insur-
ance and financial contracts (IFRS 4). This increase in other liabilities was additionally boosted 
by other liabilities, which rose by EUR 43.9 million or 33.2 %, of which the most marked growth 
was seen in deferred tax liabilities – by as much as EUR 33.1 million or 70.6 %. Liabilities from 
co-insurance and reinsurance increased by EUR 11 million or 28.4 %, while liabilities from di-
rect insurance operations went up by 13 %. 

In second place, by the growth rate come net technical provisions for the benefit of holders of 
life insurance policies that have assumed the investment risk – they increased by EUR 237.8 
million or 83.0 % and at the end of 2007 already represented 11.5 % of the balance sheet total 
and 22.8 %  of the balance sheet total for life insurance. 

Capital swelled by EUR 352.8 million or 59.8 % in comparison with the previous year, mainly 
boosted by profit reserves, which increased by 150.6 %. Of those, the highest increase was 
seen in other reserves from profit (by 287.1 %), primarily due to changed rules for disclosing 
the equalisation provision and provisions for catastrophic risks resulting from introduction of 
the International Financial Reporting Standards. In 2007, the said provisions were disclosed 
as separate items under other reserves from profit, while in 2006 they were recorded under 
technical provisions. Also the retained net profit from previous periods, which increased by 
97.1 %, importantly contributed to growth of the capital item. This increase derives from the 
provisions of the ZZavar-C, which provides for decommissioning of equalisation provisions, ex-
cept for credit insurance, until 1 January 2007 at the latest, and from applying the International 
Financial Reporting Standards. A rise was recorded also in net profit (by 109.7 %), revaluation 
adjustment (76.7 %) and core capital (by 11.5 %), while capital surplus slightly decreased (by 
EUR 0.28 million).
 
Technical provisions and deferred revenues from premiums soared by 10.3 % or EUR 237.6 
million, while liabilities for investments of reinsurers under reinsurance contracts with ceding 
undertakings diminished by 2.8 %. 

An interesting outcome is gained also by comparison of the balance sheet total and individual 
balance sheet items in non-life and life insurance.

The balance sheet total for life insurance as at 31 December 2007 already accounts for 50.5 
% of the balance sheet total for the entire insurance industry, up 1.8 percentage points from 
2006. This share significantly exceeds the share of gross premiums written for life insurance 
in the total gross premiums written, which, in spite of the steady rise, accounted for only 28.5 
% in 2007.

Such a high balance sheet total for life assurance mostly reflects its dynamic investment activ-
ity. In the case of life insurance, investments amounted to EUR 2,218.6 million and represented 
96.5 % of the balance sheet total for life insurance, while for non-life insurance they reached 
EUR 1,646.5 million or 73.2 % of the balance sheet total. However, investments in land and 
buildings used in insurance operations show quite the opposite picture. The major chunk of 
these investments is financed from non-life insurance, where they represent 4.4 % of the bal-
ance sheet total, while in life insurance they stand at a mere 0.8 % of the balance sheet total.
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The relations between life and non-life assets reflect the corresponding relations on the liabili-
ties side of balance sheets of the insurance undertakings. Technical provisions and deferred 
income represent 56.2 % of the balance sheet total in the case of non-life insurance, and 78.7 
% of the balance sheet total in case of life insurance. The situation is reversed in case of share 
of capital in the overall liabilities – in non-life insurance it reached 31.2 %, while in life insurance 
it accounts for at a mere 10.4 %. These figures prove, among others, that the major part of in-
vestments in land and buildings for direct insurance operations is financed from capital deriving 
from non-life insurance.   

3.5.2. Balance Sheets of Reinsurance Undertakings

Table 12
Summary balance sheet of reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 
(EUR million)

2006 2007 Index 07/06

 ASSETS 368.1 484.7 131.7

A. Intangible fixed assets 0.4 0.3 75

B. Investments in land and buildings and other investments 285.4 405.1 141.9

– of which: Other investments 232.0 282.0 121.6

D. Receivables 64.3 70.0 108.9

– of which: Receivables arising from reinsurance operations 62.2 67.5 108.5

E. Diverse assets 7.9 0.7 8.9

F. Deferred costs and accrued revenue 10.1 8.6 85.1

 LIABILITIES 368.1 484.7 131.7

A. Capital; of which: 109.7 179.5 163.6

– Called capital 35.9 35.9 100

B. Subordinated liabilities 11.7 31.1 265.8

C. Net technical provisions and deferred revenue from premiums 180.7 189.7 105.0

G. Other liabilities 65.1 83.3 128.0

– of which: Liabilities from reinsurance operations 53.4 58.1 108.8

H. Accrued cost and deferred revenue 0.9 1.1 122.2

Source: Audited balance sheets of reinsurance industry as at 31 December 2006 and unaudited balance sheets of reinsurance 
industry as at 31 December 2007.

The growth of the balance sheet total, which rose by 31.7 %, was slightly higher than that of 
insurance undertakings, and reached 14.7 percentage points as compared to the growth rate 
from the previous year.  The biggest rise was posted in investments in land and buildings and 
other investments (by 41.9 % or EUR 119.7 million), which is, as already seen for insurance un-
dertakings, mainly the result of the changed rules for disclosure of technical provisions, ceded in 
reinsurance (increased by 622.9 %), and of the increased shares of investments in enterprises 
in the group and associates (by 62 % as a result of expansion through purchases of foreign 
insurance undertakings). Other investments grew by 21.6 % and receivables by 8.9 % (of which 
receivables from reinsurance rose by 8.5 %). On the other hand, there was a drop in intangibe 
fixed assets (by 25 %), short-term deferred cost and accrued revenue (by 14.9 %) and diverse 
assets. 

On the liabilities side the most prominent growth was seen in subordinated liabilities – by 165.8 
% or EUR 19.4 million – resulting from a subordinated loan taken by one of the reinsurance 
undertakings. The capital increased by 63.6 % year-on-year, mainly on account of a 60.8 % 
increase in profit reserves, which is similar to insurance undertakings, and a 2458 % increase 
in the retained net profit from previous periods. Of profit reserves, the highest increase was 
seen in other reserves from profit (by 107.5 %), primarily due to changed rules for disclosing the 
equalisation provisions and provisions for catastrophic risks under the International Financial 
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Reporting Standards. The higher net retained profit from previous periods results from applying 
the ZZavar-C, which provides for decommissioning of the equalisation provisions by 1 January 
2007 at the latest in all insurance classes except credit insurance, and the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards. The growth of capital was additionally underpinned by an increase in 
revaluation adjustment (by 135.9 %).

A rise was recorded also in other liabilities – by 28 % – mainly on account of an increase in 
other liabilities (by 119.2 %) and accrued costs and deferred revenue (by 22 %). Net technical 
provisions and deferred revenue form premiums, which are the biggest item on the liabilities 
sides (39.1 % of all liabilities), posted a rise of 5 %. 

3.6. Performance Indicators

The table below shows several major performance indicators.

Table 13
Performance indicators for insurance and reinsurance industry

Insurance undertakings Reinsurance undertakings

2006 2007 2006 2007

Net claims incurred in net earned premiums – NON-LIFE INSURANCE 72% 71% 65% 67%

Net claims incurred in net earned premiums – LIFE INSURANCE 31% 29% / /

Net claims incurred in net earned premiums – HEALTH INSURANCE 88% 81% / /

Share of operating expenses in gross premiums written – NON-LIFE 
INSURANCE

21% 21% 19% 20%

Share of operating expenses in gross premiums written – LIFE 
INSURANCE

20% 23% / /

Share of operating expenses in gross premiums written – HEALTH 
INSURANCE

16% 14% / /

Investment ratio or share of technical provisions covered by investments 
of assets covering mathematical provisions

110% 108% / /

Investment ratio or share of all technical provisions covered by 
investments

110% 110% 120% 139%

Equity financing rate 17% 21% 30% 37%

Net return on equity 10% 12% 16% 16%

Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written – NON-LIFE 
INSURANCE

80% 80% 67% 69%

Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written – LIFE 
INSURANCE

98% 98% 34% 37%

Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written – HEALTH 
INSURANCE

100% 100% / /

Source: St- 43 and St- 55 Forms; audited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as of 31 December 2006 and 
unaudited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as of 31 December 2007; audited income statements of insurance and 
reinsurance undertakings for 2006 and unaudited income statements of  insurance and reinsurance undertakings for 2007.

For insurance undertakings, the ratio of net claims incurred against net insurance premiums 
earned in all three basic insurance groups slightly improved in comparison with the previous 
year, in particular in health insurance – by 7 percentage points – as a result of a more vigorous 
growth in health insurance premiums. The ratio improved also in life insurance – by 2 percent-
age points – which can be attributed to an important increase in premiums for life insurance 
in 2007 and to the fact that those contracts are long-term, with a majority of contracts not 
yet matured. This ratio somewhat deteriorated for reinsurance undertaking (by 2 percentage 
points) because of the increased volume of claims.

In the case of insurance undertakings, the share of operating expenses in premium written in 
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non-life insurance remained unchanged year-on-year, in life assurance increased by 3 percent-
age points, while in health insurance it deteriorated by 2 percentage point. The above-mentioned 
share increased also in the case of reinsurance undertakings – with a 1 percentage point rise 
it returned to the 2005 level.

The investment ratio or share of technical provisions cov-
ered by assets shows the value of investments from provi-
sions against provisions set aside7. The share of technical 
provisions covered by assets must be at least 100 %. In 
2007, the investment ratio of technical provisions covered 
by investments of assets covering mathematical provisions 
was 108 %, which is 2 percentage points less than in 2006. The investment ratio or share of 
all technical provisions covered by investments, for insurance undertakings was 110 %, which 
is the same as in 2006. The above-mentioned ratio for reinsurance undertakings in 2007 was 
139 % (up 19 percentage points from 2006). 

The equity financing rate shows the share of own capital participation in the overall financ-
ing. For insurance undertakings this rate improved by 4 percentage points, to 21 %. This 
improvement is mainly due to increase in capital, i.e. certain capital items, in particular in 
other reserves from profit (different disclosure of the equalisation provisions and provisions 
for catastrophic risks in application of the International Financial Reporting Standards) and net 
retained profit from previous periods (reallocation of the equalisation provisions in all insur-
ance classes, except credit, according to the ZZavar-C, and applying the International Financial 
Reporting Standards). For reinsurance undertakings this rate increased by 7 percentage points, 
to 37 %, for the same reasons as in the case of insurance undertakings. 

The net equity ratio is calculated as the ratio between the net profit and the average capital. 
In 2007, it amounted to 12 % and was therefore by 2 percentage points higher against 2006, 
when it rose by 1 percentage point against the previous year. For reinsurance undertakings this 
indicator remained at the previous year level – at 16 %. 

The share of net insurance premium in gross premium written for insurance undertakings (i.e. 
the retention level) remained roughly the same in all insurance groups year-on-year. However, 
for reinsurance undertakings the share increased (up 2 percentage points for non-life insur-
ance and 3 percentage points for life insurance). 

3.7. Technical Provisions

Technical provisions are set aside by insurance and reinsurance undertakings in compliance 
with the Decision on detailed rules and minimum standards relating to the calculation of techni-
cal provisions (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 3/01, 69/01 and 85/05).

8See footnote 7.

7Technical provisions take account also of the 
equalisation provisions, provisions for cata-
strophic risks (disclosed under other reserves 
from profit in the balance sheet) as well as lia-
bilities from financial contracts (disclosed under 
other liabilities in the balance sheet)  in line with 
the Insurance Act.
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Figure 6
Developments in net technical provisions of the insurance undertakings in the period 2003-2007 
(EUR million as at 31 December)

Source: St-55 Forms.

Figure 7
Developments in net technical provisions of the reinsurance undertakings in the period 2003-2007 
(EUR million as at 31 December)

Source: St-55 Forms.

As at 31 December 2007, the aggregate amount of technical provisions set aside by insurance 
undertakings was EUR 3,078.1 million or 19.5 % more than in the previous year. The techni-
cal provisions created by reinsurance undertakings amounted to EUR 154.3 million as at 31 
December 2007 or 14.4 % less than in the previous year, resulting from reduced equalisation 
provisions due to decommissioning, and reduced other technical provisions.

Insurance and reinsurance undertakings, as a rule, set aside the provisions for unearned 
premiums separately for each insurance contract, except where the loss occurrence pattern 
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varies over the duration of the contract or the insurance cover changes over the duration of the 
contract. In comparison with the previous year, the provisions for unearned premiums set aside 
by insurance undertakings increased by 7.4 % and those set aside by reinsurance undertakings 
by 11.6 %. 
 
The mathematical provisions are set aside in the amount of the present assessed value of 
future obligations of the insurance undertaking arising from insurance contracts reduced by 
the present assessed value of future premiums to be paid on the basis of those contracts. 
The net mathematical provisions of insurance undertakings underwriting life assurance poli-
cies in 2007 went up by 16.7 % year-on-year. The reinsurance undertakings did not set aside 
mathematical provisions because they do not conclude long-term contracts for which such 
provisions must be set aside. 

Provisions for claims outstanding are set aside by insurance and reinsurance undertakings 
for reported and unsettled claims – which are in principle calculated separately for each claim 
– and for incurred but not yet reported claims or not fully reported claims. The amount of pro-
visions for claims incurred but not reported or not fully reported claims is determined on the 
basis of past experience, i.e. the number of claims and the average credited damages arising 
from claims reported in the accounting year, and the future development as can reasonably be 
foreseen. The provisions for claims outstanding include, in addition to the estimated damages, 
also the estimated claim settlement costs. In 2007, the amount of net provisions for claims 
outstanding set aside by insurance undertakings increased by 17.6 % against the previous year, 
and of those set aside by reinsurance undertakings by 10.3 %.
 
The net provisions for bonuses and discounts reserved by insurance undertakings diminished 
by as much as by 42.8 % against the previous year, while those reserved by reinsurance under-
takings rose by 40.9 %. 

The equalisation provisions of insurance undertakings in the aggregate decreased from EUR 
80.1 million in 2006 to EUR 38.0 million in 2007, while those of reinsurance undertakings fell 
from EUR 35 million to EUR 4.5 million. Namely, it was already the Act amending the Insurance 
Act (ZZavar-A) of 2002 which abolished the compulsory creating of equalisation provisions in 
certain insurance classes and provided for their gradual reduction over the period of five years. 
The Act amending the Insurance Act (ZZavar-C) of 2006 limited the creation of equalisation 
provisions only to credit insurance and set 1 January 2007 as the deadline by which the insur-
ance undertakings were to reallocate the equalisation provisions in other insurance classes. 
The reduction of equalisation provisions is reflected in the balance sheet and at the same time 
in the higher profit and net retained profit of insurance undertakings.  
 
As at 31 December 2007, net technical provisions for the benefit of holders of life insurance 
policies that have assumed the investment risk amounted to EUR 516.8 million, which is as 
much as an 80 % jump year-on-year. This jump resulted from a significant increase in the 
number of life insurance policies where the investment risk has been assumed by policyhold-
ers. Up to 2003 the amount of those provisions was negligible (in 2002 they totalled a meagre 
SIT 211 million or EUR 0.88 million). But in 2007, the number of life insurance contracts where 
the investment risk has been assumed by policyholders had already increased to 322,141, 
which is 106,019 more than in the previous year.

Net other technical provisions are allocated by insurance and reinsurance undertakings with 
regard to the anticipated future obligations and risks of major damages arising e.g. from insur-
ance covering nuclear damage liability and pharmaceutical producers' liability, earthquake as 
well as other obligations and risks. Net other technical provisions created by insurance under-
takings in 2007 remained at approximately the same level, while those set aside by reinsur-
ance undertakings diminished by 83.6 %.
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The majority of reports of the appointed actuaries express a positive opinion on allocated tech-
nical provisions in 2007. In a couple of cases the appointed actuary warned the management 
of the insurance undertaking of irregularities in the IT system records, which consequently do 
not ensure the full functionality of data processing. The resulting processing of data outside IT 
systems increases the possible calculation errors. However, it should be noted that the number 
of such warnings is diminishing. Actuarial reports also show that the insurance premiums in 
certain insurance classes are insufficient to cover the liabilities under the insurance contracts.  
Other warnings relate to the duration gap between duration of liabilities and duration of assets, 
which in future could expose the insurance undertakings to the risk of reinvestment.

3.8. Investments of Assets covering Technical Provisions and Assets 
covering Mathematical Provisions

In recent years, the financial investments of insurance undertakings have been showing flour-
ishing growth rates. As at 31 December 2007, investments of insurance undertakings' assets 
covering technical provisions – a part of which are also investments covering mathematical pro-
visions to be formed by insurance undertakings pursuant to the relevant regulations – amount-
ed to EUR 3,398.4 million. Investments of technical provisions, without assets covering math-
ematical provisions, grew by EUR 141.4 million or 11.9 %, and investments of mathematical 
provisions even by EUR 400.7 million or 24.1 %.  

Table 14
Investments of the insurance undertakings in the period 1999-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Index 

07/99

Own resources 67.4 53.9 76.3 105.5 119.6 156.0 192.4 288.8 619.5 919.1

Assets covering mathematical 
provisions

339.5 430.2 559.1 733.1 937.5 1.151.2 1.362.8 1.664.6 2.065.3 608.3

Assets covering technical 
provisions without assets 
covering mathematical provisions

446.0 506.4 578.2 814.3 932.8 997.4 1,114.1 1,191.7 1,333.1 298.9

Total 852.9 990.5 1,213.6 1,652.9 1,989.9 2,304.6 2,669.3 3,145.1 4,017.9 471.1

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN forms

In the structure of investments by financial sources, the highest increase since 1999 has been 
recorded in investments of assets covering mathematical provisions, which increased by 24.1 
% in the last year, and with EUR 2,065.3 million as at 31 December 2007 already represented 
as much as 60.8 % of all investments of assets covering technical provisions

Table 15
Investments of the reinsurance undertakings in the period 1999-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Index 

07/99

Own resources 35.0 44.4 42.0 54.3 62.1 72.2 81.0 128.5 187.2 534.9

Assets covering technical provisions without 
assets covering mathematical provisions

122.6 122.5 131.9 135.9 162.2 165.1 175.3 195.7 214.4 174.9

Total   157.6 166.9 173.9 190.2 224.3 237.3 256.3 324.2 401.6 254.8

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN forms

Reinsurance undertakings show lower growth rates of investments than insurance undertak-
ings. As at 31 December 2007, the investments of technical provisions created by reinsurance 
undertakings amounted to EUR 214.4 million – a rise of EUR 18.7 million or 9.6 % over the 
previous year. 
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Table 16
Investment structure of assets covering mathematical provisions, and assets covering technical 
provisions in the period 2002-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

Assets covering mathematical provisions
Assets covering technical provisions without assets covering 

mathematical provisions

2002 % 2004 % 2006 % 2007 % 2002 % 2004 % 2006 % 2007 %

Government 
securities

364.8 49.8 576 50 722.3 43.4 707.8 34.3 248.0 30.4 305.3 30.6 460.7 38.7 445.9 33.4

Real estate 2.6 0.4 1.7 0.1 2.1 0.1 2.2 0.1 46.5 5.7 37.1 3.7 17.9 1.5 19.5 1.5

Loans 3.9 0.5 12.1 1 6.3 0.4 7 0.3 44.3 5.4 25.9 2.6 17.1 1.4 21.2 1.6

Debt 
securities

189.3 25.8 303.7 26.4 471.1 28.3 630.2 30.5 99.0 12.2 176.0 17.6 234.5 19.7 321.1 24.1

Equity 
securities

44.7 6.1 143.5 12.5 374.3 22.5 588.1 28.5 114.2 14 193.5 19.4 238.7 20 274.9 20.6

Bank 
deposits

122.5 16.7 110.9 9.7 77.6 4.7 115.4 5.6 172.4 21.2 151.0 15.2 115.2 9.7 95.6 7.2

Other 5.3 0.7 3.3 0.3 10.9 0.6 14.6 0.7 89.9 11.1 108.6 10.9 107.7 9 154.9 11.6

Total 733.1 100 1.151.2 100 1.664.6 100 2.065.3 100 814.3 100 997.4 100 1.191.8 100 1.333.1 100

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and forms RN

In 2007, assets covering technical provisions, without assets covering mathematical provi-
sions, were invested primarily in government securities (33.4 %), debt securities (24.1 %) and 
equity securities (20.6 %). In comparison with the previous years a significant downfall was 
seen in bank deposits, as of 31 December 2007 accounting for 7.2 % of all investments of as-
sets covering technical provisions, without mathematical provisions. 

In the structure of assets covering mathematical provisions there are still prevailing invest-
ments in government securities (34.3 %), followed by investments in debt securities (30.5 %), 
equity securities (28.5 %) and bank deposits (5.6 %).

Investments of the insurance sector as a whole are mainly bank equity and debt securities and 
bank deposits. Such investment policy of insurance undertakings reflects also the integration 
process of banks and insurance undertakings, which importantly influences the ownership mix 
of financial institutions and their overall exposure. 

Figure 8
Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions (together with assets covering 
mathematical provisions) of insurance undertakings in the period 2002-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN 
forms.
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Figure 9
Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance undertakings in the period 
2002-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN 
forms.

The value of investments of assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance undertakings 
at the end of 2007 over 2006 increased by EUR 18.7 million or 9.6 %, which is 2.1 percent-
age points less than in the previous year. Assets covering technical provisions were invested 
primarily in government securities and government guaranteed securities (27.7 %), in debt 
securities (26.7 %), in other investments (22.8 %), including receivables (EUR 47.6 million) and 
other investments (EUR 1.4 million). In comparison with the previous year, the reinsurance 
undertakings invested more assets covering technical provisions in other investments (by 18.3 
percentage points more), debt and equity securities (up 7.8 and 1.1 percentage points, respec-
tively), while investments in government securities and bank deposits went down by 22.6 and 
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The share of assets covering technical provisions other than assets covering mathematical 
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undertakings have the major part of their assets invested in debt and equity securities. Since 
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Another frequent choice is government bonds. The accession of Slovenia to the EU triggered a 
rapid increase in the share of investments in securities issued by foreign issuers, which as at 
31 December 2007 already accounted for 32.5 % of all investments of insurance undertakings 
in securities (of all investments, irrespective of their source). Table 17 shows a summary of the 
investment structure of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical 
provisions in foreign markets.
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Table 17 
Investments abroad of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions 
in the period 2004-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

Government 
securities

Debt 
securities

Equity 
securities Loans

Bank 
deposits

Total 
investments 

abroad
Total 

investments

Share of 
investments 

abroad in total 
investments

Assets covering 
technical provisions 
without assets 
covering mathematical 
provisions

2004 1.3 47.1 7.1 0.0 0.0 55.9 997.4 5.60

2005 5.0 66.4 9.2 0.0 0.0 85.2 1,114.1 7.64

2006 8.3 114.8 14.6 0.4 0.0 138.1 1,191.7 11.59

2007 32.7 187.7 34.0 0.4 0.0 254.4 1,333.1 19.11

Assets covering 
mathematical 
provisions

2004 48.0 140.6 24.2 3.3 0.0 216.5 1,151.2 18.80

2005 59.7 199.1 4.2 0.0 0.0 321.0 1,362.8 23.55

2006 75.1 310.5 130.6 3.8 0.0 519.9 1,664.6 31.24

2007 137.0 440.2 179.5 3.8 0.5 761.0 2,065.3 36.85

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions.

At the end of 2007, investments in foreign shares and bonds had already amounted to EUR 
1,015.8 million, which was EUR 357.8 million more than in the previous year. The major share 
of investments abroad represents investments of assets covering mathematical provisions of 
insurance undertakings. They have been on a steady rise for several years now and in 2007 
amounted to almost 36.9 % of all investments of assets covering mathematical provisions. Of 
these, investments in foreign debt securities represent 69.9 % of all assets covering mathemat-
ical provisions invested by insurance undertakings in debt securities, or 4 percentage points 
more than in 2006. In 2007, a prominent rise in the share of investments in foreign government 
securities was recorded – in 2006 it accounted for 10.4 % of all investments in such securities, 
but in 2007 the share climbed to 19.4 % or EUR 137.0 million. The share of investments in 
foreign equity securities decreased from 34.9 % of all investments in such securities in 2006 
to 30.5 % or EUR 179.5 million in 2007. There was also a noticeable growth in investments 
of technical provisions abroad – by as much as 84.5 % – thus already making up 19.1 % of all 
investments of assets covering technical provisions of insurance undertakings. Investments 
abroad of assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance undertakings stood at EUR 58.6 
million end-2007, which is equal to 27.4 % of all investments of assets covering technical provi-
sions of reinsurance undertakings or 15.1 percentage points more year-on-year.

The insurance undertakings investing in foreign securities are particularly careful about the ter-
ritorial spread of investments. The majority of insurance undertakings tend to invest in ten to 
twenty countries, except one insurance undertaking, which has investments even in 30 coun-
tries. By far the greatest chunk of assets is invested in Germany – a good fifth (almost a fourth 
in 2005),  by 5 to 10 % in Austria, Luxembourg, USA, France, the Netherlands and Great Britain, 
slightly less in Ireland and Italy, while the shares invested in other countries are smaller. 

The share of investments in compound securities is on the rise. As at 31 December 2005, in-
vestments in compound securities, totalling EUR 109.3 million, were seen in six insurance un-
dertakings, together covering 33 compound securities. As at 31 December 2006, investments 
in compound securities already represented more than a quarter of all investments of insur-
ance undertakings in foreign securities, totalling EUR 166.1 million (altogether 54 compound 
securities), while as at 31 December 2007 such investments already stood at EUR 219.1 mil-
lion (altogether 82 compound securities). Although the investments of insurance undertakings 
in compound securities increased in 2007 against 2006, the share of such investments in total 
investments in foreign securities diminished due to a substantial increase of investments in 
all foreign securities.

All investments in compound securities are long-term investments with maturity of 5 to 40 
years, mostly of 10 to 20 years. The insurance undertakings mainly purchase such securities 
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with the intention of holding them to maturity, individual purchases ranging from EUR 200,000 
to EUR 5.9 million. Bigger insurance undertakings make bigger individual purchases, in certain 
cases comprising the entire emission of a security. As a rule, the issuers or guarantors of 
securities exceed the prescribed minimum rating requirement of the rating agencies. All securi-
ties are traded on well-established world stock exchanges, most frequently on the Luxembourg 
stock exchange.

Comparing the assets covering technical provisions set aside with actual investments, invest-
ments of assets covering technical provisions up to 2001 showed a deficit, which partly re-
sulted from the fact that these assets were used to finance tangible fixed assets for insurance 
operations and receivables, and partly from value adjustments on investments, write-offs or 
unsettled losses. In 2002, technical provisions were for the first time ever sufficiently covered 
by investments of assets covering technical provisions; the situation further improved in 2003, 
to a high degree due to allowing the insurance undertakings to include other investments as 
investments of assets covering technical provisions, such as receivables from policyholders 
under non-life insurance with maturity in up to 30 days, receivables from interest on invest-
ments in bonds and other debt securities, and bank deposits, receivables from insurance and 
reinsurance undertakings for reinsurance premium with maturity in up to three months, and 
investments in deposits held in a saving bank with its head office in the Republic of Slovenia, 
an EEA Member State or an OECD Member State. The Act amending the Insurance Act of 2006 
(ZZavar-C) (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 79/06) introduced new categories of permitted as-
sets, i.e. claims for tax recoveries, claims against guarantee, solidarity and indemnity funds, 
and tangible fixed assets, other than land and buildings, if valued on the basis of prudent am-
ortisation, provided that they met all legal conditions. 

Table 18
Comparison of other technical provisions9 and actual investments of assets covering technical provisions 
other than mathematical provisions for insurance and reinsurance undertakings in the period 1999-2007 
(EUR million)

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Investments of assets 
covering TP

568.6 628.8 709.5 950.2 1.095.1 1,162.5 1,289.4 1,387.5 1,547.6

Resources of TP 708.5 774.4 867.6 933.7 994.5 1,064.5 1,177.5 1,270.7 1,303.2

Difference -139.9 -145.6 -158.1 16.5 100.6 98.0 111.9 116.8 244.4

Source: Forms St-43 and St-55, RN forms, report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering 
mathematical provisions, and audited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 1999 – 31 
December 2006, and unaudited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as at 31 December 2007.
9See footnote 7.

The coverage at the end of 2007 increased by 109.2 % in comparison with the previous year. 
Thus investments of assets covering technical provisions exceeded the technical provisions by 
EUR 244.4 million. In insurance undertakings the share of technical provisions covered with as-
sets covering mathematical provisions in 2007 was 108.3 %. The share of technical provisions 
covered with assets covering technical provisions other than assets covering mathematical 
provisions notched 116 %, for reinsurance undertakings 139 %.  

3.9. Capital Adequacy

The principle of risk management is one of the important principles stipulated in the Insurance 
Act. Provided that adequate technical provisions are ensured – and also appropriate invest-
ment of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions, 
reinsurance, co-insurance and liquidity management of these assets – insurance undertakings 
control their risk exposure primarily by ensuring sufficient capital, i.e. capital adequacy. In ac-
cordance with the criteria laid down in the Insurance Act, the capital adequacy is ensured if the 
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insurance undertaking at any point in time disposes of adequate capital with regard both to the 
volume and type of insurance operations performed, and to the risks to which it is exposed in 
performing those operations. The capital adequacy is calculated by applying the methodology 
set out in the Insurance Act and the implementing regulations issued by the Insurance Supervi-
sion Agency. The capital adequacy of insurance undertakings is established and disclosed on 
prescribed forms. 

The composite insurance undertakings are required to calculate the surplus or deficit of the 
available capital separately for non-life and life insurance, 

The insurance undertakings are obliged at any time to establish and demonstrate their capital 
adequacy. If the insurance undertaking's capital fails to achieve the minimum capital referred 
to in Articles 110 and/or 111 of the Insurance Act on account of increased capital require-
ments or other causes, the board of directors of the insurance undertaking must immediately 
adopt the measures for ensuring minimum capital within its responsibility, or else propose 
measures within the responsibility of other bodies of the insurance undertaking. Non-com-
pliance with the minimum capital requirement constitutes a serious violation of risk manage-
ment rules. If the board of directors of the insurance undertaking does not adopt the required 
measures, the Agency orders the board of directors or supervisory board to eliminate the 
established violations.

Table 19
Capital adequacy of insurance undertakings as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 (EUR million)

2006 2007

CAPITAL Non-life insurance Life assurance Non-life insurance Life assurance

Core capital 271.7 113.5 425.8 186.6

Guarantee fund 56.3 28.4 73.6 43.3

Compliance with Article 106(3) of the ZZavar 215.4 85.1 352.2 143.3

Supplementary capital 70.9 8.8 24.4 6.4

Available capital of insurance undertakings 260.4 114.8 266.2 144.9

Required minimum capital 151.1 68.9 175.1 85.9

Capital adequacy 109.3 45.9 91.1 59.0

Source: KUS Forms.

As at 31 December 2006, a deficit of the available capital was recorded by one out of thirteen 
insurance undertakings in non-life insurance. Already in December 2006 the supplementary 
capital was paid in by its owners and the remaining red figures for the available capital are the 
result of the simple fact that the increase of the capital stock had not yet been entered in the 
company register as at 31 December 2006 and was therefore not taken into account in calcu-
lation of its capital adequacy. In life insurance, all insurance undertakings complied with the 
capital requirement as at 31 December 2006. 

As at 31 December 2007, all insurance undertakings recorded a surplus of the available capital 
both for non-life and life insurance. The year 2007 was the first year after 2001, when calcula-
tion of capital requirements in line with EU Directives was introduced, without any insurance 
undertaking showing a deficit of the available capital. 

At the end of 2007, the whole insurance industry showed a substantial increase in the core 
capital in comparison with the end of 2006, both in non-life and life insurance. The core capital 
increased mainly due to higher revaluation adjustment, net retained profit from previous peri-
ods, but also due to the capital surplus and increased share capital.

The situation is reversed in the case of supplementary capital, where a substantial decreased 
is recorded. The major reasons for the decrease of supplementary capital in non-life insurance 
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is that in 2006 it included the equalisation provisions, set aside by insurance undertakings 
at their own discretion, which had to be reallocated by 1 January 2007. In 2007, this realloca-
tion increased net retained profit from previous periods. In addition, the majority of insurance 
undertakings having issued subordinated debt instruments experienced a weaker performance 
and attained a lower result in comparison with 2006, including in life insurance. 

There is no substantial increase in the available capital against 2006 and compared to the 
growth of the core capital in the same period; this can be attributed to the fact that some in-
surance undertakings significantly increased their participation in other financial institutions, 
which is a deduction item of the available capital.  For the reasons stated above and due to 
the increased minimum capital requirement, insurance undertakings in non-life insurance show 
slightly lower capital adequacy as of 31 December 2007 than at the end of 2006.

Table 20
Capital adequacy of reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 
(EUR million)

CAPITAL 2006 2007

Core capital 89.5 147.5

Guarantee fund 7.5 8.7

Compliance with Article 106(3) of the ZZavar 82.2 138.8

Supplementary capital 28.0 4.1

Available capital of reinsurance undertakings 73.9 81.0

Required minimum capital 22.1 26.1

Capital adequacy 51.7 54.9

Source: KUS Forms.

As at 31 December 2006 as well as of 31 December 2007, both reinsurance undertakings 
posted a surplus of the available capital. 

Similarly to insurance undertakings also reinsurance undertakings show a substantial increase 
of the core capital in comparison with the end of 2006 and a considerable reduction of the 
supplementary capital. The core capital increased mainly due to higher revaluation adjustment, 
net retained profit from previous periods, but also due to the capital surplus. Also reinsurance 
undertakings increased their participation in other financial institutions in 2007. However, the 
capital adequacy of reinsurance undertakings is still better than in 2006.

The capital adequacy of the whole insurance sector as at 31 December 2007 against 1 January 
2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, is demonstrated by the figure below:

Figure 10
Surplus of the available capital in calculating the capital adequacy of insurance and reinsurance 
undertakings in 2007 (EUR million)

Source: KUS Forms.
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Pension Companies

4.1. Structure of the Insurance Market with respect to Shares held by 
Pension Companies

According to the ZPIZ-1, a pension company is a legal entity with its registered office in the Re-
public of Slovenia which has been granted an authorisation to provide voluntary supplementary 
pension insurance services. Nevertheless, the provisions of the Insurance Act on insurance 
public limited companies apply to pension companies which can be organised only as such, 
unless otherwise provided in the ZPIZ-1. A pension company may only perform supplementary 
pension insurance operations comprising collecting of premiums under this type of insurance 
and keeping the personal accounts of the insured persons, management of the pension com-
pany’s assets, payments of pension annuities and managing open-end and close-end pension 
funds. The authorisation for provision of voluntary supplementary pension insurance services 
is granted by the Agency on the basis of the positive opinion of the minister responsible for 
labour. The voluntary supplementary pension schemes, available in Slovenia since 2001, may 
be offered – in addition to pension companies – also by mutual pension funds and insurance 
undertakings. 

The ratio between pension contributions for the compulsory pension insurance fund and trans-
fers from the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Institute to individuals and households has been 
deteriorating year by year, exerting an ever-increasing pressure on the pension fund. Additional 
saving for old age will therefore become increasingly important for individuals. Although the 
number of the insured, the volume of premium collected and the amount of assets under the 
supplementary pension insurance as well as tax relief incentives offered by the government 
have been steadily growing year-on-year, the expectations for such insurance to become an 
alternative form of saving have not been fulfilled. Low profitability of saving for old age and high 
past returns on capital markets are probably the main reasons for lack of interest in this type 
of saving. If measured by insurance premium in the BDP, the development of the voluntary sup-
plementary pension insurance in Slovenia is well behind the euro area. 

At the end of 2007, three pension companies were granted authorisation to perform voluntary 
supplementary pension insurance operations, which is one less than in 2006. Namely, in 
2007, Prva Pension Company transferred all voluntary supplementary pension insurance con-
tracts (portfolio) to the newly established Prva Personal Insurance Company, and was reorgan-
ised into an insurance holding company.

Consequently, all figures for pension companies for 2006 relate to four pension companies and 
in 2007 to three pension companies, which makes comparison quite difficult. 

Table 21
Gross insurance premiums written, number of insured persons and market shares of pension companies 
in 2006 and 2007

Pension Company

Premiums in 
2006 in EUR 

million %

Number of 
insured persons 

in 2006 %

Premiums in 
2007 in EUR 

million %
Number of insured 

persons in 2007 %

Moja naložba Pension 
Company

11.7 12.2 24,337 12.6 15.9 20.3 29,114 20.4

Prva Pension 
Company

25.0 26.2 66,556 33.5 / / / /

Skupna Pension 
Company

38.0 39.8 65,344 33.0 39.9 51.0 69,399 48.7

A Pension Company 20.9 21.8 40,596 20.9 22.5 28.7 44,145 30.9

TOTAL 95.6 100 196,833 100 78.3 100 142,658 100

Source: St-19, St- 50, St-23, St-56/I and St-56/K Forms.

4
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In 2007, pension companies collected gross insurance premiums in the amount of EUR 78.3 
million, which is a drop of EUR 17.3 million or 18.1 % year-on-year. This drop can be attributed 
to the fact that only three pension companies were included in the 2007 data, while the data 
for 2006 were drawn for four pension companies. The total premiums of all three pension 
companies increased by EUR 7.7 million or 10.9 % in 2007. The combined market share of the 
two largest companies was 79.7 %. Skupna Pension Company is leading with a 51 % share, 
followed by A Pension Company with a 28.7 % share, and the third is Moja naložba with 20.3 
% of the market. 

As of 31 December 2007, pension companies had contracts concluded with 142,658 persons, 
which is 54,175 less than in the previous year – or 12,381 more than in the previous year if 
excluding the 2006 data for Prva Pension Company. The majority of the insured, i.e. 138,526 
(96.9 % of all insured persons), have concluded collective insurance contracts, and 4.132 in-
dividual insurance contracts. In 2007, the average monthly gross premium per insured person, 
not under suspension of rights and not retaining the rights, ranged from EUR 44.22 to EUR 
49.66. By the number of the insured, the largest share is held by the same two pension compa-
nies which hold the leading position also as regards the shares of insurance premium written. 

4.2. Performance of Pension Companies

The review of performance results covers audited financial statements for 2006 and unaudited 
financial statements for 2007. Pension companies prepared their financial statements on the 
basis of the implementing regulations issued by the Agency, and for 2007 for the first time also 
by applying the International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Table 22
Summary income statement of pension companies for 2006 and 2007 (EUR million)

2006 2007

1. Net revenue from insurance premiums 95.7 78.3

2. Investment revenue 39.4 90.0

3. Other net revenue from insurance operations 6.5 5.7

4. Net expenses for damages paid 4.0 2.8

5. Change in other net technical provisions (+/-) -108.4 -94.5

6. Net operating expenses 6.0 4.5

7. Investment expenses 13.2 68.2

Net profit or loss for the period 2.7 2.4

Source: Audited income statements of pension companies for 2006 and unaudited income statements of pension companies for 
2007.

In 2007, pension companies together generated a profit of EUR 2.4 million, which is 11.1 % 
less than in 2006. Without the 2006 data for Prva Pension Company, the result would be 118 
% more than in 2006.  All pension companies ended the 2007 financial year with a positive 
operating result. This improvement in performance of pension companies should be attributed 
to the growth of investment revenue, which increased by EUR 50.6 million or 128.4 % (without 
Prva Pension Company for 2006 – by EUR 59.6 million or 196 %), and on the other hand net 
expenses for damages decreased by 30 % (excluding the 2006 data for Prva Pension Company, 
they rose by 155 %), net operating expenses by 25 % and expenses relating to change in other 
technical provisions by 12.8 %. On the other hand, net revenue from insurance premiums low-
ered by 18.2 % (or rose by 11 %, if excluding Prva Pension Company), and investment expenses 
increased by as much as 416.7 %. 
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4.3. Balance Sheets

The balance sheet total of pension companies stood at EUR 422.7 million in 2007, i.e. down 
EUR 15.9 million or 3.6 % against the previous year. If excluding the 2006 data for Prva Pension 
Company, the actual growth of the balance sheet total was EUR 101.2 million or 31.5 %.  

All items on the assets side show lower results, except for deferred costs and accrued rev-
enues, which increased by 100 %. Investments in land, buildings and other investments, which 
account for 99.2 % of all assets of pension companies, decreased by 3.3 % (or increased by 32 
% if excluding the 2006 data for the Prva Pension Company).  

On the liabilities side, the major item in 2006 was the technical provisions (89.2 %). After 
introduction of the International Financial Reporting Standards, which differentiate between 
insurance and financial contracts (IFRS 4), the liabilities under voluntary supplementary pen-
sion insurance are disclosed under other liabilities in 2007 (item Liabilities under financial 
contracts) and not under technical provisions. In 2007, other liabilities amounted to EUR 400.2 
million, of which liabilities under financial contracts amount to EUR 398.6 million. 

The capital item, representing 5 % of all liabilities, diminished by 50.2 % in 2007, again be-
cause of there being one pension company less in 2007. This resulted also in lower core capital 
(by 48.7 %), capital surplus (by 83.6 %), revaluation adjustment (by 52.2 %), while on the other 
hand it also entailed lower retained loss from previous periods and better net profit for the 
financial year. However, if excluding the 2006 data for Prva Pension Company, the capital item 
would show an increase by 35.7 % arising from the increased revaluation adjustment, net profit 
for the financial year and capital surplus. 

Table 23
Summary balance sheet of pension companies as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 
(EUR million)

2006 2007 Index 07/06

 ASSETS 438.6 422.7 96.4

A. Intangible fixed assets 0.5 0.1 20.0

B. Investments in land and buildings and other investments 433.7 419.2 96.7

– of which: Other investments 400.1 379.7 94.9

C. Investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance policies 
that have assumed the investment risk

0.0 0.0 /

D. Receivables 1.9 1.6 84.2

E. Diverse assets 2.0 0.8 40.0

F. Deferred costs and accrued revenue 0.5 1.0 200.0

 LIABILITIES 438.6 422.7 96.4

A. Capital; of which: 42.8 21.3 49.8

– Called capital 29.8 15.3 51.3

B. Subordinated liabilities 0.0 0.5 /

C. Net technical provisions and deferred revenue from premiums 391.2 0.0 /

E. Other provisions (for other risks and charges) 0.5 0.6 120.0

G. Other liabilities 4.0 400.2 10.005.0

H. Accrued cost and deferred revenue 0.1 0.1 100.0

Source: Audited balance sheets of pension companies as of 31 December 2006 and unaudited balance sheets of pension compa-
nies as at 31 December 2007.
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4.4. Performance Indicators

The major performance indicators are summarised in the table below:

Table 24
Performance indicators of pension companies for 2006 and 2007

INDICATOR 2006 2007

Investment ratio or share of mathematical provisions covered by assets1 100% 100%

Share of capital in financing 9.7% 5.0%

Net return on equity 6.9% 12.9%

Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written 100% 100%

Source: Form St-55, audited balance sheets and audited income statements, Report on investments of assets covering technical 
provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions.

The investment ratio, or share of technical provisions covered by assets, remained at the 100 
% level of the previous two years.

The share of capital in financing, showing the share of own capital participation in the overall 
financing, i.e. in all liabilities, fell by 4.7 percentage points against the previous year, resulting 
from the reduced number of pension companies and the related decrease in capital by 50.2 %. 
Excluding the 2006 data for the Prva Pension Company, this share would increase by 0.1 per-
centage point. 

The net return on equity improved by 6 percentage points – mainly on account of the reduced 
number of pension companies and the related decrease in capital.

In 2007, the share of net insurance premiums in the gross premiums written for pension compa-
nies remained unchanged at 100 %, as in the previous two years, indicating that 
pension companies do not reinsure risks underwritten.  

4.5. Mathematical Provisions/Liabilities from financial contracts11 

During the saving period, mathematical provisions are calculated as the accumulated paid-in 
premiums. Pension companies set aside mathematical provisions as provided for in the pension 
schemes. 

As at 31 December 2007, the liabilities from voluntary supplementary pension insurance of 
pension companies amounted to EUR 398.5 million. According to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, those liabilities are to be disclosed in the balance sheet under liabilities 
from financial contracts, although by their nature they correspond to mathematical provisions. 
Liabilities from voluntary supplementary pension insurance grew by 1.9 % (EUR 7.3 million), or by 
31.2 %, if excluding the 2006 data for the Prva Pension Company. 

4.6. Investments

As at 31 December 2007, investments of assets covering mathematical provisions of pension 
companies totalled EUR 399.4 million, up by 1.9 % from the previous year, or 31.1 % if exclud-
ing the 2006 data for the Prva Pension Company. The investment structure shows a downturn 
of investments in government securities and securities with government guarantee – with a 
26.7 % share as at 31 December 2007 they decreased by 4.8 percentage points as compared 
to the previous year. Consequently, as at 31 December 2007, just as on 31 December 2006, 
investments in debt securities were in the lead – they represented 33.3 % of all investments.  

11See footnote 10.
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The share of investments in equity securities is on the rise – from 13.5 % in 2006 to 18.3 % 
in 2007. The same holds also for the share of investments in bank deposits, which grew by 4 
percentage points against 2006 and accounted for 21.5 % of all investments. 

Figure 11
Investment structure of assets covering mathematical provisions of pension companies as 
at 31 December 2004, 31 December 2005, 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 (EUR million)

* Government securities and securities with government guarantee.
Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions.

The investment structure of pension companies also shows an increasingly more important 
orientation to foreign markets. As at 31 December 2007, the share of investments in securi-
ties issued by foreign issuers accounted for 28.4 % of all investments of pension companies 
in securities (i.e. irrespective of the source of investment), which was by 0.2 percentage point 
less than in the previous year, totalling EUR 92.8 million. As regards investments of assets 
covering mathematical provisions, investments in foreign securities amounted to EUR 98.1 mil-
lion, which represented 24.6 % of all investments of assets covering mathematical provisions 
of pension companies. Of these, investments in foreign equity securities accounted for 45.1 
% of all investments in equity securities (down 17.2 percentage points from the previous year), 
while investments in foreign debt securities represented 41.2 % of all investments in such 
securities. 

Table 25
Structure of investments abroad of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering 
mathematical provisions of pension companies in the period 2004-2007 (EUR million as at 31 December)

Government 
securities

Debt 
securities

Equity 
securities

Other 
investments

Total 
investments 

abroad
Total 

investments

Share of investments 
abroad in total 

investments

Assets covering 
mathematical 
provisions

2004 0.8 19.6 6.7 0.0 27.1 194.0 14.1

2005 5.4 35.1 8.3 0.0 48.8 283.4 17.3

2006 6.2 56.8 21.7 0.0 84.7 392.3 21.6

2007 3.1 55.7 33.0 6.3 98.1 399.4 24.6

Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions.

Like the insurance undertakings, also the pension companies increased the share of invest-
ments in compound securities. As at 31 December 2006 three and as at 31 December 2007 
two pension companies invested in compound securities. In one pension company such in-
vestments already account for 38.3 % of all investments in foreign securities or 7.6 % of all 
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investments in securities, while the other pension company has in compound securities only 
a meagre 2 % of all investments in foreign securities. The total value of such investments at 
the end of 2006 amounted to EUR 31.2 million, and at the end 2007 to EUR 5.8 million. This 
lower result would turn into an increase if the 2006 data for the Prva Pension Company were ex-
cluded. The total number of compound securities increased from 18 (end of 2005) to 27 (end of 
2006) and fell to 13 at the end of 2007, due to the reduced number of pension companies. 

4.7. Capital Adequacy

As at 31 December 2006 as well as at 31 December 2007, all pension companies met the cap-
ital requirements. However, compared to 2006, there was a substantial decrease in the core 
capital of pension companies in the aggregate, and their capital adequacy slightly deteriorated 
as well. This results from the fact that as of 31 December 2007 only three pension companies 
still existed on the Slovenian market, since Prva Pension Company has transferred its pension 
insurance contracts to Prva Personal Insurance Company in 2007 and was reorganised into 
an insurance holding company. On the other hand, the minimum capital requirements for the 
existing pension companies increased.     

Table 26
Capital adequacy of pension companies as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 (EUR million)

CAPITAL 2006 2007

Core capital 32.0 20.4

Guarantee fund 8.2 9.6

Compliance with Article 106(3) of the ZZavar 23.8 10.8

Supplementary capital 1.5 0.5

Available capital of pension companies 26.8 20.5

Required minimum capital 15.6 16.5

Capital adequacy 11.2 4.0

Source: KUS Forms.

Other Companies performing Insurance 
Operations

The Insurance Supervision Agency also supervises the First Pension Fund, established pursu-
ant to the First Pension Fund of the Republic of Slovenia and Transformation of Authorised 
Investment Corporations Act (ZPSPID), the Pool for insurance and reinsurance of nuclear risks 
GIZ (Nuclear pool GIZ) and Guarantee fund, organised within the Slovene Insurance Associa-
tion.

Table 27
Gross insurance premium written by other companies performing insurance operations in 2006 and 2007 
(EUR million)

Company and insurance class 2006 2007

First Pension Fund (life assurance linked to investment fund units)* 8.0 12.1

Pool for insurance and reinsurance of nuclear risks GIZ (fire and natural forces insurance) 1.3 1.2

Slovene Insurance Association – Guarantee Fund (motor vehicle liability insurance) 3.0 4.1

*Premium transferred from FPF Saving fund and intended for purchase of FPF annuities.
Source: St-23 and St-50 Forms.
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The First Pension Fund is managed by the Pension Fund Management Company on behalf and 
for the account of the insured persons with the objective of covering its obligations to the in-
sured. These obligations derive from supplementary pension insurance policies and they relate 
to payments of pension annuities or the insured sum, when the policyholder has died prior to 
acquisition of the right to pension annuities. The premium for the pension annuity was ensured 
by exchange of pension coupons for points of insurance policies. 

On 13 July 2004 the first policyholders, aged 55 or over as at that date, acquired the right to 
pension annuity. This means that, as at that date, there was a distribution of funds and poli-
cyholders within the FPF to the part belonging to policies before policyholders become entitled 
to the pension annuity (saving fund of the FPF), and FPF Assets covering mathematical provi-
sions, intended solely to cover liabilities for payment of pension annuities. Altogether 11,002 
policyholders became entitled to pension annuities in 2004, 927 in 2005, then 1,318 in 2006 
and 1,435 in 2007. Accordingly, the amount of EUR 1.2 million was paid into the FPF Assets 
covering mathematical provisions in 2007.

The Pool for insurance and reinsurance of nuclear risks GIZ was established in 1984 on the 
basis of the authorisation issued by the Ministry of Finance. It is a commercial interest as-
sociation whose primary objective is insurance, co-insurance and reinsurance against nuclear 
risks in connection with nuclear facilities or use of nuclear energy for peaceful purposes in the 
country as well as from abroad. Five insurance undertakings and both reinsurance undertak-
ings were members of the Pool in 2007. 

The Slovene Insurance Association – Guarantee Fund, made up from contributions of all insur-
ance undertakings underwriting motor vehicle liability insurance, provides compensation for 
damages caused by drivers of unknown and non-insured motor vehicles, aircraft and ships and 
boats.

Conclusion

The insurance industry as a whole showed good operating results in 2007, better than in the 
previous year. The insurance undertakings posted an aggregate net profit of EUR 95.1 million. 
Two insurance undertakings, representing approximately 4 % of the balance sheet total of all 
insurance undertakings, showed a net loss totalling EUR 0.6 million. This improved operating 
result is mainly due to the positive technical account in health insurance, which showed red 
figures in 2006. Also the technical accounts in non-life insurance (excluding health insurance) 
and life insurance were better as compared to 2006, which reflects a more favourable ratio 
between revenues from insurance premiums and expenses for damages paid. 

The capital adequacy in non-life insurance deteriorated by EUR 18.2 million year-on-year, result-
ing primarily from lower supplementary capital and increased participation in other financial 
institutions. In life insurance the capital adequacy improved by EUR 13.1 million, mainly on 
account of higher revaluation adjustment, net retained profit from previous periods as well as 
capital surplus. At the end of 2007, insurance companies showed EUR 91.1 million of the avail-
able surplus over the required minimum capital in non-life insurance and EUR 59.0 million in life 
insurance. As at 31 December 2007, no insurance undertaking recorded a deficit of available 
capital. 

In recent years the financial investments of insurance undertakings have been showing flour-
ishing growth rates. In the investment structure by financial sources, the highest increase 
has been recorded in investments of mathematical provisions (long-term insurance), indicat-
ing the growth of life insurance, which – from a macroeconomic standpoint – is increasingly 
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becoming an alternative form of saving. Also the dynamics of investments of assets covering 
technical provisions created to cover the non-life insurance liabilities has been satisfactory. 
The downward trend of the share of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering 
mathematical provisions invested in the form of bank deposits and loans continued, while on 
the other hand investments in debt securities as well as in equity securities have been grow-
ing. Following accession to the EU and due to limited investment opportunities in the domestic 
financial market, insurance undertakings intensified their investment exercise abroad. 

The two reinsurance undertakings posted a better business result than in the previous year, 
showing a net profit of EUR 22.4 million. Their balance sheet total, amounting to EUR 484.7 
million as at 31 December 2007, is the result of the increased profit reserves, retained net 
profit from previous periods and revaluation adjustment. As at 31 December 2007, they posted 
the surplus of the available capital in the amount of EUR 54.9 million or EUR 3.2 million more 
than in the previous year.  

In 2007, pension companies again improved their operating result – they recorded an aggre-
gate profit of EUR 2.4 million, up EUR 0.3 million year-on-year, or if excluding the 2006 data for 
the Prva Pension Company, up EUR 1.3 million. All pension companies ended the 2007 finan-
cial year with a positive operating result. Due to the reduced number of pension companies in 
2007 also the volume of business decreased as well as the number of the insured, which fell 
by 54,175. Consequently, also the amount of collected insurance premiums decreased, as did 
the corresponding obligation to set aside the mathematical provisions. Those grew by 1.9 % 
in comparison with the previous year. Also in 2007, all pension companies adequately covered 
their technical provisions with assets and met the capital requirements. The available capital 
surplus over the required minimum capital diminished by EUR 7.2 million against 2006, result-
ing from the lower number of pension companies in 2007.
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Introduction

The Insurance Supervision Agency (hereinafter: the Agency) was established pursuant to the 
Insurance Act on 1 June 2000 when the Government of the Republic of Slovenia appointed its 
Council of Experts and the director. In performance of its functions the Agency has succeeded 
the Office for Insurance Supervision, established in 1995 as a body within the Ministry of Fi-
nance. 

The main objective of the Agency is protection of policyholders' interests and interests of the 
insured through mitigating and eliminating irregularities in insurance. 

The main responsibility of the Agency is supervision of the players in the insurance market, 
and granting authorisations in the insurance area and issuing implementing regulations, which 
constitute the legal base for regulation, control and supervision of the insurance market in the 
Republic of Slovenia. 

The Agency is a self-governing and independent legal entity, and as such accountable to the 
National Assembly. 

The Agency’s bodies are the Council of Experts and the director. 

The Council of Experts, acting also in the function of the senate, is responsible for adopting 
decisions with regard to authorisations, consents and other individual matters on which, un-
less otherwise stipulated in the Insurance Act, decisions are taken by the Agency; for adopting 
regulations when the Insurance Act determines that such acts be adopted by the Agency; for 
adopting general acts of the Agency and performing other tasks within the competence of the 
Agency, unless it is stipulated by the Insurance Act that another body of the Agency is responsi-
ble for those tasks. The president of the Council of Experts is Dr. Mihael Perman. In 2007, the 
Council of Experts of the Agency held twenty-five regular meetings.

The director of the Agency is responsible for managing operations and organising the work of 
the Agency and its units. The director of the Agency in 2007 was Dr. Mihael Perman. 

Internal Organisation and Financing of the 
Insurance Supervision Agency in 2007

2.1. Internal Organisation and Number of Employees

On 26 July 2000, the Council of Experts adopted the Rules of Procedure of the Agency in line 
with the Insurance Act, stipulating in detail its internal organisation and operation. On the same 
date, i.e. on 26 July 2000, the director of the Agency, with approval of the Council of Experts 
and on the basis of the Rules of Procedure, issued the Rules on Internal Organisation and Job 
Systematisation, laying down internal organisational units of the Agency, their respective areas 
of activities and their inter-relations.

In 2006, the most recent amendments to the Rules of Procedure were adopted by the Council 
of Experts, and in 2007, the last updates to the Rules on Internal Organisation.

1

2
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In accordance with the above-mentioned rules, the activities of the Agency in 2007 were organ-
ised in three sections: Accounting and Financial Analysis; Actuaries, Statistics and Informat-
ics; and External Control; and in technical services which provide support for basic tasks and 
competencies of the Agency. 
   

Figure 1
Internal organisational structure of the Insurance Supervision Agency

The Accounting and Financial Analysis Section carries out all tasks of analysing and exercis-
ing control over operation of legal and other entities, supervised by the Agency in accordance 
with the law through monitoring, collecting and verifying reports and notifications of insurance 
undertakings and other entities which are liable to submit reports to the Agency or to notify 
it of individual facts and circumstances in compliance with the law, and on this basis draws 
up reports of the Agency for various purposes, controls the adequacy of investments, capital 
requirements and capital adequacy, collects other information on operation of entities subject 
to supervision, and on the basis of its findings proposes the relevant measures. In these same 
areas it also prepares proposals for implementing regulations and takes part in the procedures 
for granting authorisations.

The Actuaries, Statistics and Informatics Section performs tasks in the area of data input and 
processing, information system development (hardware and software), examination and analy-
sis of actuary’s reports, controls the calculation of premium rates and technical provisions, 
monitors and gives approval of premium systems and policy conditions, analyses reinsurance 
programs and reinsurance protection, prepares proposals for implementing regulations in those 
areas and participates in the procedures  for granting authorisations.
 
The External Control Section, in co-operation with other sections, performs the tasks relating 
to inspection of operations of subjects of supervision and proposes the relevant measures on 
the basis of findings during inspections.

The technical services staff of the Agency, who do not belong to the basic internal organisa-
tional units and who provide support to basic tasks and competencies of the Agency, perform 
legal and accounting tasks, tasks of the secretariat to the Council of Experts and Senate, as 
well as correspondence with foreign and domestic supervisory and other institutions.

Upon its establishment in June 2000, the Agency had a staff of eight who were transferred to 
the Agency from the former Office of the Republic of Slovenia for Insurance Supervision. Since 
then until the year-end 2007, the Agency carried out an extensive project of recruiting new ex-
perienced staff and, as at 31 December 2007, the Agency had twenty-nine employees: sixteen 
with a university degree and eight with a master’s degree (six in economy, one in economic in-
formatics and one in law). Four employees have also the licence of a certified actuary and four 
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the licence of a certified auditor. In 2007, one employee left the Agency, while two employees 
were newly recruited.  

Table 1
Number of employees per educational level as at 31 December 2007

Educational level Number of employees

V - secondary education 1

VII – higher education 3

VIII – university education 16

VIII – master's degree 8

IX – doctor of science degree 1

Total 29

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency

Table 2
Number of employees per professional title as at 31 December 2007

Professional title Number of employees

NC in administration 1

B. Sc. in Administration 2

B. Sc. in Economy (tertiary level) 1

B. Sc. in Economy (Univ.) 12

B. Sc. in Mathematics 1

Professor of Mathematics 1

B. A. in Law 2

Master of science 8

Doctor of Science 1

Total 29

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency

The employees of the Agency may not be members of bodies of insurance undertakings or 
other legal persons supervised by the Agency, and may not carry out individual tasks for those 
legal persons. The employees are also required to protect data relating to persons supervised 
by the Agency and other data relating to facts and circumstances with which they became fa-
miliar by way of discharging their duties, which does not include the data which, pursuant to the 
provisions of the Insurance Act, are public. The above obligation exists also after termination 
of their office or employment.

2.2. Financing of the Insurance Supervision Agency

The Agency is financed from fees as laid down in the Tariff on fees, annual fees and lump-sum 
fees (Tariff – 1) (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 89/02 and 74/05). The tariff is adopted by 
the Council of Experts of the Agency and enters into force after it has been approved by the 
Government of the Republic of Slovenia and published in the Official Gazette of the Republic 
in Slovenia. In accordance with the said tariff, annual fee rates are set for insurance undertak-
ings and pension companies at 0.12 % from the basis (the amount of premiums paid in the 
previous year), for insurance undertakings in an insurance group at 0.13 % of the basis (the 
amount of premiums paid in the previous year), for insurance agencies and insurance broker-
age companies at 0.06 % of the basis (income from insurance agency services or brokerage in 
the previous year), and for the Slovene Insurance Association at 0.12 % of the basis (amount of 
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contributions to the Guarantee Fund). The annual fee for individual entrepreneurs is set at 0.06 
% from the basis (income from insurance agency or brokerage services in the previous year).

Main Activities of the Insurance Supervision 
Agency in 2007

According to the Insurance Act, the Agency is responsible for issuing regulations on the ba-
sis thereof and for supervision of insurance undertakings, insurance agencies and insurance 
brokerage companies, as well as insurance agents and brokers. The Agency also conducts 
supervision of legal persons related to the insurance undertaking, if necessary for the purpose 
of supervising the insurance undertaking’s operation, as well as control of the insurance un-
dertaking within an insurance group, insurance holding company and joint-venture insurance 
holding company.

The Agency also performs supervision of the Nuclear Pool and the Slovene Insurance Associa-
tion – Guarantee Fund. 

In accordance with Articles 342 and 377 of the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (Official 
Gazette of the RS, Nos. 106/06 – official consolidated text, and No. 17/07) (ZPIZ-1-UPB4), the 
Agency is responsible for issuing authorisations to pension companies and for supervising their 
operations.

Further, in line with Article 23 of the First Pension Fund of the Republic of Slovenia and Trans-
formation of Authorised Investment Corporations Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 26/05 – 
official consolidated text)(ZPSPID-UPB1) the Agency also supervises the First Pension Fund of 
the Republic of Slovenia. 

3.1. Activities in the Field of Legislation

3.1.1. Preparation and Issue of Implementing Regulations and Amendments 
thereof 

Article 256(2) of the Insurance Act stipulates that the Agency prepares and adopts regulations 
when the Insurance Act determines that such act be adopted by the Agency. 

In 2007, the Agency amended fourteen implementing regulations, which were all published in 
the Official Gazette before the end of 2007.

The majority of amendments to the existing implementing regulations (7) were adopted in 
March: Decision amending the Decision on detailed contents of the summary audited annual 
report  – SKL 2002 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 21/07); Decision amending the Decision 
on detailed method of calculating capital and compliance with capital and capital adequacy 
requirements (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 25/07); Decision amending the Decision on de-
tailed rules for calculation of the insurance undertakings’ minimum capital (Official Gazette of 
the RS, No. 25/07); Instruction for calculation of the item »Revaluation adjustment associated 
with assets not financed from technical provisions« on forms KUS-P and KUS-Ž (Official Gazette 
of the RS, No. 25/07); Decision on the method of calculation and on additional own capital 
items (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 28/07); Decision on annual report and quarterly financial 
statements of insurance undertakings – SKL 2007 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 28/07);  

3
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Instruction amending the Instruction for preparation of reports on investments of assets cover-
ing technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions delivered by insurance 
undertakings on electronic media (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 28/07).

In June, the Agency also adopted Decision amending the Decision on detailed conditions for 
acquiring and examining the expertise necessary for transacting the business of insurance 
agency or brokerage (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 55/07) and Decision amending the Deci-
sion on registers of insurance agents, insurance brokers, insurance agencies and insurance 
brokerage companies (Decision on registers-1) (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 55/07). 

In December 2007, the Agency adopted Decision amending the Decision on detailed rules 
relating to investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathemati-
cal provisions and investments not financed from technical provisions (Official Gazette of the 
RS, No. 115/07); Decision amending the Decision on reporting the statistical insurance data 
(Official Gazette of the RS, No. 118/07); Decision amending the Decision on detailed form 
and minimum scope of audit and contents of auditor report (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
118/07); Decision amending the Decision on annual report and quarterly financial statements 
of insurance undertakings – SKL 2007 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 119/07); and Decision 
amending the Decision on supervision of an insurance group (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
119/07). 

3.1.2. Co-operation in Preparation of Amendments to the Insurance Act

In 2007, the Agency co-operated with the Ministry of Finance in preparation of the Act amend-
ing the Insurance Act (ZZavar-D), published in the Official Gazette of the RS, No. 102 of 9 
November 2007.

The ZZavar-D has ensured the harmonisation with the acquis, in particular with the Reinsurance 
Directive, as well as with already transposed directives which were subject to corrections. Since 
the operation of reinsurance undertakings in Slovenia was already transparently regulated and 
brought in accordance with the Directive by the original Insurance Act, the ZZavar-D can be seen 
as upgrading certain parts of the existing Act rather than introducing crucial new elements.  The 
ZZavar-D brought a change related to the possibility of the portfolio transfer for reinsurance 
undertakings, and the obligation of notifying the alienation of shares when the amount is equal 
to or exceeding the qualifying share. Further, a foreign company, holding an authorisation for 
performance of reinsurance operations, may perform such operations also on the territory of 
the Republic of Slovenia. The ZZavar-D clearly distinguishes between amounts necessary for 
calculation of capital adequacy in insurance and in reinsurance undertakings, and extends 
the types of permitted investments to receivables from reinsurance, including the reinsurance 
share in technical provisions. It imposed further limitations on individual investments of reinsur-
ance undertakings, and a changed limitation on investments of their assets covering technical 
provisions in foreign currencies. The ZZavar-D provides for equal treatment of branches of the 
EU Member State insurance undertakings and of the EU Member State insurance undertakings 
which directly perform insurance business in the territory of the Republic of Slovenia.

3.1.3. Participation in Preparation of the Implementing Regulations on the Basis of 
the Financial Conglomerates Act

The Financial Conglomerates Act, published in the Official Gazette of the RS of 4 April 2006, 
provides for the supplementary supervision of the regulated entities in a financial conglomer-
ate. It further provides for the implementing regulations on the basis thereof to be issued by the 
Minister of Finance in co-operation with the Bank of Slovenia, the Securities Market Agency and 
the Insurance Supervision Agency. In line with these provisions, in 2006 and at the beginning 
of 2007, the Agency took part in preparation of the following implementing regulations:



6 Insurance Supervision Agency  Annual report 2007 of the insurance supervision agency

- Rules for calculating supplementary capital requirements for the regulated entities and 
adjusted capital requirements for non-regulated entities in a financial conglomerate

- Rules on significant risk concentrations of the regulated entities 
in a financial conglomerate

- Rules on significant transactions of the regulated entities in a financial conglomerate
- Rules on the register of financial conglomerates

The provisions of the Financial Conglomerates Acts required also the adoption of the new Code 
of Practice for co-operation between supervisory authorities, which also involved the Agency's 
participation.

3.2. Authorisations and Consents

In 2007, the Agency adopted decisions on matters falling within the area of operation of insur-
ance undertakings and pension companies in accordance with the provisions of the Insurance 
Act and the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act.  

On the basis of Article 65(1) of the Insurance Act, the Agency granted the authorisation to per-
form insurance business to one insurance undertaking. 

The Agency also issued one authorisation for transfer of voluntary supplementary pension 
insurance contracts to an insurance undertaking in accordance with Article 65(4) of the In-
surance Act and in conjunction with Article 348 of the ZPIZ-1, and in consequence, based on 
Article 69(2) of the Insurance Act and in conjunction with Article 348 of the ZPIZ-1, a decision 
establishing the expiry of authorisation to perform voluntary supplementary pension insurance 
operations.
 
The Agency also issued two authorisations for transfer of outsourced operations according to 
Article 65(5) of the Insurance Act.

Further, it issued two authorisations pursuant to Article 122(2) of the Insurance Act, authoris-
ing one insurance undertaking twice to exceed the restrictions on investments.

One decision was issued to an insurance undertaking in the procedure for granting an au-
thorisation extending the deadline to ensure capital adequacy pursuant to Article 153(5) of the 
Insurance Act.

In addition, the Agency issued a decision authorising the insurance undertaking to take into ac-
count one half of the non-paid-up called capital of a public limited company according to Article 
107(2), second indent, of the Insurance Act.

The Agency granted three authorisations to acquire a qualifying holding in an insurance public 
limited company on the basis of Article 18(1) of the Insurance Act.

Based on Article 25 of the Insurance Act, the Agency also issued 10 authorisations for a board 
of directors' member in an insurance company and refused 2 applications for such an authori-
sation. Moreover, it issued eight decisions establishing the expiry of authorisation for a board 
of directors' member according to paragraph (9) of the same Article.

Otherwise, the Agency issued 1 licence of a certified actuary in 2007, and, on the other hand, 
decisions on conditional withdrawal of the authorisation to perform the tasks of a certified ac-
tuary to three actuaries in accordance with Article 73(4) of the Insurance Act.
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A decision establishing the elimination of violations based on Article 180 of the Insurance Act 
was issued to one insurance undertaking and one other company.

In 2007, the Agency granted altogether 739 authorisations to perform insurance agency and 
insurance brokerage services. Of these, 170 authorisations were granted to insurance agency 
or brokerage companies and individual entrepreneurs for performance of insurance agency and 
brokerage services, and 582 authorisations or declaratory decisions were granted to individu-
als to perform insurance business as insurance agents and insurance brokers. The Agency 
refused or rejected 8 applications for authorisations to perform insurance business or insur-
ance agency and brokerage services. The Agency further issued one decision for withdrawal of 
an authorisation to perform insurance agency services in compliance with Article 321 of the 
Insurance Act, and one decision to initiate the procedure for withdrawing an authorisation to 
perform insurance agency services based on Articles 317(2) and 238(6), second indent, of the 
Insurance Act.  

In addition to the above-mentioned administrative procedures, the Agency also received a noti-
fication by two insurance undertakings on the intended commencement of direct performance 
of insurance operations in the territory of certain EU Member States and a notification on the 
intended commencement of performance of insurance operations through a branch in the terri-
tory of an EU Member State. Pursuant to Article 88(2) and (3) of the Insurance Act, the Agency 
submitted both notifications to the competent supervisory authorities.

3.3. Conducting the Supervision of Insurance Undertakings

3.3.1. Examination of Reports and Notifications

The Agency conducts the supervision of insurance undertakings and other subjects of supervi-
sion (reinsurance undertakings, pension companies, insurance agencies, insurance brokerage 
companies, the Slovene Insurance Association – Guarantee fund, the Pool for insurance and 
reinsurance of nuclear risks GIZ, the First Pension Fund) in accordance with the Insurance Act 
and other relevant laws. The Agency is also responsible for supplementary supervision, to the 
extent laid down in the Insurance Act, of insurance undertakings in a group, insurance holdings, 
joint-venture insurance holdings, and persons in which the insurance undertaking participates 
or which participate in an insurance undertaking with a registered office in the Republic of 
Slovenia or abroad. The Insurance Act also empowers the Agency to supervise those entities 
which, in addition to other activities or as a sole activity, perform insurance services or insur-
ance agency services or insurance brokerage without having obtained the relevant authorisa-
tion from the Agency (illegal performance of insurance operations and insurance agency or 
brokerage services). 

Moreover, pursuant to the Financial Conglomerates Act, the Agency also performs, as a co-
ordinator, the supplementary supervision of the regulated entity in a financial conglomerate. 

Continuous supervision is ensured by means of a regular analytical examination of reports and 
notifications submitted by reporting agents (regular reporting) and by inspection of operations.  
Inspections of operations are performed by the Agency's staff at the registered office of the 
subject under supervision or at the head office of the Agency through examination of the docu-
mentation submitted against the request for inspection of operation. 

In the framework of regular reporting, the Agency verifies the timeliness and correctness of 
reports, and endeavours to establish any material misstatements through detailed analysis and 
cross-examination. If any violation or irregularity in reporting is established, the Agency requests 
the subject of supervision to eliminate them, but may also decide to take other appropriate 
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supervisory measures, including on-the-spot inspection by the Agency's staff at the registered 
office of the subject of supervision (and/or its place of business). 

3.3.2. Inspection of Operations

In 2007, the Agency’s staff performed 5 inspections of operations – in two insurance undertak-
ings and three insurance agency companies.

Inspections of operations may be complete or focussed only on individual areas of activity. 
Individual areas for inspection are determined on the basis of information from reports and 
notifications, at the request of other sectors relating to performance of other functions of the 
Agency (granting authorisations and similar) or, if deemed necessary, based on information 
from publicly available sources. Inspections of operations also allow for checks of compliance 
of documentation with reports and notifications submitted to the Agency by the subjects of 
supervision in the course of regular reporting; and for obtaining additional data and information 
not yet available to the Agency.  

If any violations or irregularities in the operation of subjects of supervisions are established, the 
findings of the Agency's inspectors may serve as the ground for issuing the order to eliminate 
violations. In case of serious violations of risk management rules, additional measures may be 
required by an order. The inspectors monitor the elimination of violations by examination of the 
reports on elimination of violations and, if appropriate, also by follow-up inspections of opera-
tions within the scope necessary to establish whether the violations have been eliminated.

3.3.3. Imposing Measures of Supervision

In addition to withdrawals of authorisation as the measure of supervision, already mentioned 
under the chapter on authorisations and consents, the Agency issued 11 orders to eliminate 
violations to various subjects of supervision: 5 orders based on examination of reports and 
notifications and 6 orders based on inspections of operations. The Agency issued also a deci-
sion establishing non-compliance of a company with the order because the latter did not cease 
performance of insurance operations for which it had not acquired an authorisation.
The orders issued include also 2 orders to complete the report on elimination of violations. 
The Agency issues an order to complete the report when the report on elimination of violations 
is incomplete, or where the report and the accompanying evidence do not prove that the viola-
tions established by the order have been eliminated.
Other orders issued in 2007 imposed the elimination of violations. The orders to eliminate vio-
lations issued by the Agency in 2007 related mainly to non-compliance with the Insurance Act, 
the Companies Act and the Health Care and Health Insurance Act.
Violations of the Insurance Act included violations of provisions concerning performance of 
insurance operations, risk management rules, organisation of the adequate internal control 
system, bookkeeping, functioning of the internal audit and violation of insurance contract pro-
visions as well as conditions for performance of insurance agency services. Violations of the 
Companies Act concerned violations of provisions providing for a notification of participation in 
the general meeting, and violations relating to the publication of a call for a general meeting; 
while violations of the Health Care and Health Insurance Act related to the status transforming 
of the mutual insurance company in the procedure of a merger with an insurance public limited 
company. 
The subject of supervision has the right of appeal against the decision according to Article 311 
of the Insurance Act. The Agency decides on the appeal by issuing a decision according to Arti-
cle 315. In 2007, the Agency issued decisions on three appeals, refusing them in whole.
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Table 3
Number of inspections of operations and orders on elimination of violations

2006 2007

Inspections of operations 9 5

Orders on elimination of violations 10 11

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency

3.4. Co-operation with Domestic and Foreign Supervisory Authorities and 
Institutions

In discharging its functions the Agency regularly co-operates with all ministries competent in 
the insurance area, in particular with the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Labour, Family 
and Social Affairs, the Ministry of Health, as well as the Bank of Slovenia, the Securities Mar-
ket Agency, the Slovenian Institute of Auditors, the Slovene Insurance Association, the Money 
Laundering Prevention Office and the Office for Prevention of Corruption. 

Pursuant to the Code of Practice for co-operation between supervisory authorities, the mem-
bers of the Co-operation Commission, which is composed of the vice governor of the Bank 
of Slovenia or director of the Department of Banking Operations Supervision of the Bank of 
Slovenia, director of the Securities Market Agency, and director of the Insurance Supervision 
Agency, held three meetings in 2007. In accordance with Article 6(2) of the Code of Practice, 
providing that the duty of convening and organising meetings and preparing the minutes rotate 
each year to another supervisory body, in 2007, this task was passed from the Insurance Su-
pervision Agency to the Bank of Slovenia.

At its April 2007 meeting, the Co-operation Commission decided to set up a working group 
charged with the operational tasks deriving from the Financial Conglomerates Act and the 
implementing regulations, issued on the basis thereof. The operating working group draws up 
decision proposals and submits them to the Co-ordination Commission for adoption. The work-
ing group comprises representatives of the Bank of Slovenia, the Securities Market Agency and 
the Insurance Supervision Agency. It held six meetings in 2007. 

In January 2007, the Agency participated in the meeting of the Co-ordinating Committee for 
Technical Preparation to Introduce the Euro at the national level, presided by the Ministry of 
Finance and the Bank of Slovenia, with the Agency being a member. The Agency prepared the 
final report on introduction of the Euro in the insurance sector.  

The Agency also co-operates with insurance supervisory or financial control authorities from 
other EU Member States, Croatia, BiH, Serbia, Macedonia, Kosovo, Ukraine and Romania. 

As regards the functioning and modifications of the Information system, the Agency has been 
co-operating with the Irish consulting company Visor since 2001. The introduction of the Euro 
entailed the modification of all prescribed forms for reporting to the Agency. In addition to 
adjustments of the relevant forms, the new program version will offer also a number of new 
functions, which will facilitate and shorten the procedures as regards the modification of the 
prescribed forms. 

3.4.1. Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Supervisors 
– CEIOPS

An increasingly important task is participation of the Agency in the Committee of the European 
Insurance and Occupational Pensions Supervisors – CEIOPS, established on 28 May 2004 in 
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Frankfurt under the terms of the ECOFIN Council Decision of 20 January 2004. In CEIOPS the 
Agency co-operates at several levels, which gives it the opportunity to participate in drafting 
new legislative solutions and also the possibility of further training of the Agency's personnel. 

The main body of CEIOPS is the meeting of heads of insurance supervisory authorities of 
Member States (the Members' Meeting), while the Managing Board of CEIOPS, consisting of 
six members, and assisted by President and Secretary-General, is responsible for administra-
tion and co-ordination of the work of CEIOPS. CEOIPS is currently presided by the Head of the 
German financial control institution, and his alternate is the president of the Austrian financial 
control institution. The remaining four members come from Italy, the Netherlands, Hungary and 
the United Kingdom. The director of the Agency was appointed as the internal auditor of CEIOPS 
in the period October 2004 – October 2007.

Throughout 2007, the director himself or together with co-workers attended five plenary ses-
sions of the Members’ Meetings: in March, September, October and December in Frankfurt, 
and in June in Amsterdam. 

To discharge its tasks, CEIOPS may create Permanent Committees and establish project work-
ing groups. The major current task of CEIOPS is the Solvency II Project; following the model de-
veloped in the already adopted new banking regulation (Basel II), working groups were created 
to cover the so-called pillars of prudential supervision: under Pillar I the working group prepares 
proposals on capital requirements in life and non-life insurance, the working group under Pillar 
II is responsible for the review of the supervisory process; and the working group under Pillar III 
for preparing proposals on accounting and disclosure requirements.

The purpose of the said project is not only to improve the criteria relating to the capital require-
ments and solvency regime, but also to renew the existing rules of prudential supervision of 
insurance undertakings and develop an integral prudential system for supervision. It should be 
emphasised that the new solvency system has the same main objective as the old one – pro-
tection of policyholders. For this purpose it should offer to supervisory authorities the adequate 
tools and empower them to evaluate the overall solvency of all subjects of supervision, based 
on the assessment of all important risks covered. The new solvency system will entail amend-
ments to a number of the existing directives.

Like Basel II, this project also has a three-pillars or areas structure: quantitative requirements 
in Pillar I, supervisory activities in Pillar II and supervisory reporting and public disclosure in 
Pillar III. In addition to quantitative requirements under Pillar I, the system covers also quantita-
tive and qualitative elements ensuring the health of a certain insurance undertaking, e.g. ad-
ministrative capacity, internal risk control, risk measurement, monitoring etc. The risk-oriented 
approach implies the recognition of internal risk management models and better reflects the 
true risk profile than under the existing standard formula for solvency calculation. Thus the 
internal model may result in a higher or lower amount for the solvency capital requirement than 
the amount based on the standard approach.  

The main focus of the Solvency II Project is on capital requirements and supervisory inspec-
tions as well as on supervisory reporting and public disclosure on individual legal persons. Not-
withstanding, the European Commission expects also all important aspects related to supervi-
sion of insurance groups and financial conglomerates to be addressed, including experience 
obtained on the basis of both relevant directives from 1998 and 2002, respectively. Hence, of 
equal importance are the use of internal risk assessment models in the financial group, the 
method of adopting decisions in the parent company, the suitable division of responsibility 
among supervisors, assessment of rules for capital distribution, etc.

CEIOPS has also the following Permanent Committees or groups:
- group for occupational pension insurance;
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- group for financial stability or macroeconomic aspects of insurance;
- group for achieving convergence in supervisory practice in the EU Member States;
- group for insurance intermediaries issues;
- Task force on revision of the Sienna Protocol relating to the collaboration of the supervisory 
authorities in cross-border operations.

In the framework of the Solvency II Project, CEIOPS has also expert groups, set up in compli-
ance with the areas from the new Solvency Directive:

- Financial Requirements Expert Group; 
- Internal Models Expert Group;
- Internal Governance, Supervisory Review and Reporting Expert Group;
- Insurance Groups Supervision Committee.

At the CEIOPS meeting, held on 27 and 28 June 2007, new  chairs of working groups were 
appointed. The deputy director of the Agency, Mr Jernej Merhar, was appointed the vice-chair 
of the Financial Requirements Expert Group. The deputy director of the Agency also became 
Head of the working subgroup on technical provisions of the same expert group. The Financial 
Requirements Expert Group was established at the request of the European Commission, who 
is obliged to adopt the implementing measures provided for in the Proposal of a Directive on 
the taking-up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II).

The mandate of the Financial Requirements Expert Group, which held five 2-days meeting in 
2007, is to prepare bases for adoption of implementing measures relating to calculation of 
technical provisions, determination of items/resources of own capital, calculation of capital re-
quirements for individual risks to which insurance undertakings are exposed, and calculation of 
the minimum capital of insurance undertakings. Another task is to prepare simplified methods 
and techniques for calculation of technical provisions and capital requirements, proportionate 
with the nature, scope and complexity of individual risks. In the light of the above, the expert 
group prepared technical specifications for the Fourth Quantitative Impact Study (QIS4) exer-
cise to be run in the period April 2008 – end June 2008. The said study will test in practice the 
adequacy of the proposed methods, together with simplifications for calculation of technical 
provisions and capital requirements, and instructions for classifying different assets in tiers 
(Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3).

The Fourth Quantitative Impact Study exercise introduced the new way of calculating the tech-
nical provisions of the insurance undertakings, which are to be calculated as the discounted 
expected value of future cash flows (current exit value). Because of the apparent complexity 
of such a calculation, the technical specifications comprise also the proposed simplifications 
and approximations. The technical specifications include also instructions for classifying capi-
tal resources in individual tiers, which was a shortcoming of the previous quantitative impact 
study. The Fourth Quantitative Impact Study tested a different model for calculation of capital 
requirements for accident and health insurance and a linear model for calculating the mini-
mum capital. At the same time it tests the module for calculating capital requirements for the 
equity risk, which depends on duration of liabilities arising from insurance contracts, and the 
proposed simplifications for calculation of capital requirements for each risk included in the 
standard formula. 

In 2007, the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pension Supervisors - CEI-
OPS ran the Third Quantitative Impact Study (QIS3) of the proposed new capital requirements, 
based on a model, prepared by the CEIOPS Financial Stability Committee. The study covered 
both life and non-life insurance as well as reinsurance. Upon having established that the sec-
ond phase of the above study, which was carried out in 2006, involved only 15 % of the Sloveni-
an insurance market – the lowest share as compared to other EU Member States – the Agency 
already in February (the deadline for the exercise was August) sent a letter to all insurance 
undertakings and both reinsurance undertakings asking for their participation in the exercise. 
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with draft technical specifications attached. 

At the beginning of April 2007, the Agency attended the meeting of the Solvency II Commission 
of the Slovene Insurance Association, where it presented the scope and mode of operation of 
the working group for performance of the Third Quantitative Impact Study (QIS3) exercise, or-
ganised within the Agency, and answered the related questions. At the end of April, the Agency 
organised the first meeting of representatives of insurance undertakings, charged with the study 
QIS3, where the representatives had the opportunity to present the progress made by insurance 
undertakings in conducting the QIS3 exercise and the encountered problems.  

The second meeting of representatives of insurance undertakings on QIS3 was held at the be-
ginning of May 2007, separately for non-life and life insurance. At the end of May, the Agency 
organised a meeting in Ljubljana with representatives of CEIOPS, who answered the questions 
from Slovenian insurance undertakings.

The third meeting of representatives of insurance undertakings on the QIS3 exercise was organ-
ised by the Agency in June 2007, this time separately for each insurance undertaking. 

Altogether 11 insurance undertakings, two reinsurance undertakings and on group, representing 
approximately 90 % of the insurance market, participated in the QIS3 exercise. As expected, 
the results showed that the new method of solvency calculation would not cause major pertur-
bations in the Slovenian market. The available capital of an insurance undertaking against the 
solvency capital requirement would decrease for the majority of insurance undertakings, but not 
below the solvency margin. 

The Agency's representatives participate also in a number of other expert groups. In 2007, they 
attended nine meetings held in Brussels, Frankfurt, London, Vienna, Budapest, Lisbon and 
Paris.

The representatives of the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pension Super-
visory (CEIOPS), Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) and the Committee of Eu-
ropean Securities Regulators (CESR) signed the Joint Protocol on co-operation and co-ordination 
in the areas of regulation, policy, information exchange and other tasks with a common interest 
in Brussels in November 2005. Since the committees already co-operate with each other, the 
purpose of the protocol is to further enhance and formalise the co-operation among them. The 
objectives of the protocol are to: share information, exchange experience, reduce supervisory 
burdens, ensure similar basic functioning of the three Committees and produce joint reports to 
relevant EU institutions and committees. 

In February 2006, a new working group was established with the main task of harmonising insur-
ance procedures in the Member States. The members of the above-mentioned working group 
»Compass« (Task Force on COnvergence and iMPAct aSSessment) are 5 heads of insurance 
supervisory authorities, including the Insurance Supervision Agency. The said working group 
was upgraded to the Convergence Committee at the beginning of 2007 and its first tasks will be 
to prepare instructions for the future reorganisation of the supervisory authority in the light of 
the new solvency regime, and to organise training programmes and facilitate exchange of staff 
between EU supervisors.

The Agency participates also in the Interim Working Committee on Financial Conglomerates – 
IWCFC, established on the initiative of CEBS, CEIOPS and CESR to facilitate the implementation 
of the Financial Conglomerates Directive. It will focus on the following areas: identification and 
mapping of financial conglomerates, ensuring convergence of national supervisory practices, 
analysis of the consequences of the sectoral rules on the capital requirements calculation, 
inter-group transactions and risk concentration, the equivalence of third country supervision, 
and agreements of EU Member States on co-operation in the supervision of financial conglomer-
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ates. The Committee held three meetings in 2007, of which the representatives of the Agency 
attended two, one in Frankfurt and the other in Amsterdam. 

3.5. Other Activities of the Insurance Supervision Agency

In 2007, the members of the Agency’s staff attended a number of working meetings, as well as 
seminars and professional consultations, whereby they also actively participated with papers, 
e.g. one paper was presented during the Fourteen Days of Slovenian Insurance in Portorož. 
They also attended other seminars, consultations, meetings, courses and conferences, includ-
ing the Accountants Conference at Otočec, Days of Slovenian Lawyers and Days of Slovenian 
Administration in Portorož, auditors’ meeting at Radenci, Conference on Accounting, Auditing 
and Finance in Portorož, Seminar on International Financial Reporting Standards in Ljubljana, 
and Solvency II seminar in Amsterdam.




